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The Year in Review
On behalf of the Board and Management, I would like to extend our sincere gratitude and appreciation 
to all our valued stakeholders for their unwavering support and cooperation throughout the financial 
year 2024.

During the year, DCCL produced a total of 405,032 MT of cement, compared to 496,437 MT in 2023 
Cement sales totalled 412,659 MT, compared to 479,030 MT in the previous year.

The company faced a major setback on October 22, 2024, when Cement Silo No. 3 collapsed. This 
unfortunate incident caused significant damage to equipment and infrastructure, along with the loss 
of cement stock. As a result, both production and sales were completely halted for over a month.

Following the incident, an audit of the remaining cement silos revealed that their conditions were 
below operational standards. Based on recommendations from technical consultants, silo usage 
has been restricted to 40% of capacity. This has severely impacted operational flexibility. Major 
retrofitting work is planned for 2025 to restore full functionality and ensure safety.

In 2024, the company generated total revenue of Nu. 2,594.10 million, compare to Nu. 2,902.47 
million in 2023. The primary cause of this decline was the production halt following the silo collapse. 
Even after operations resumed, we faced challenges in regaining lost export orders. Additionally, 
a low domestic demand—largely due to reduced economic activity and the completion of major 
hydropower projects—further affected sales. Export market prices also remained under pressure 
due to intense competition from regional cement manufacturers. However, there was a notable 
increase in revenue from clinker sales, a Nu. 240.24 million, compared to Nu. 8.11 million in 2023.

The company conducted scheduled maintenance shutdowns to address critical issues in plant 
machinery and equipment. Overall, 2024 was a challenging year in terms of both operations and 
maintenance.

The company recorded a net loss of Nu. 549.86 million in 2024, compared to a loss of Nu. 66.04 
million in 2023. The significant deterioration in financial performance is primarily attributable to the 
silo collapse and the resulting disruption.

Despite the challenges, we remain committed to improving the overall performance of the company. 
Strategic initiatives, including infrastructure upgrades and operational enhancements, are planned 
for the upcoming year.

We seek the continued support of all our stakeholders as we work to navigate these difficulties and 
move the company forward. We also extend our heartfelt thanks to our valued customers for their 
trust in Dragon Cement.

Wishing everyone a successful 2025.

Tashi Delek!

(Dechen Choling)
Chief Executive Office
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COMPANY PROFILE
The Royal Government of Bhutan initiated Dungsam Cement Project (DCP) in 1982 with assistance 
from the Government of India. It was incorporated as Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited 
(DCCL) on September 10, 2009 under the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan 2000/2016 as a 
wholly owned subsidiary of Druk Holding and Investment Limited (DHI), which is an investment 
arm of the Royal Government of Bhutan.

The company was commissioned in the year 2014and the Commercial Operation Date (CoD) was 
declared as January 1, 2014.

The plant has an installed capacity of 3,000 MT of clinker productions per day and 4,130 MT of 
cement productions per day making it the biggest cement producer in the country. The company 
produces three types of cement viz. Ordinary Portland Cement (OPC), Portland Pozzolona Cement 
(PPC) and Portland Slag Cement (PSC). The products are marketed under the brand name “Dragon 
Cement”. About80% of the cement produced is marketed in India and 20% of the cement produced 
is sold in the domestic market. As of now the company is in its 12th year of operation and given its 
potentials, it aspires to become one of the major profit-generating companies under DHI.

The plant is located at Chengkari, Nganglam, under Pemagatshel Dzongkhag in eastern Bhutan at 
an approximate distance of about 150 KM in North-West of Guwahati, Assam, India. It has obtained 
permanent license from the Bhutan Standard Bureau (BSB) and Bureau of Indian Standards (BIS) to 
market its cement in Bhutan and India.

The Company had been ISO 9001:2015 certified by Bureau Veritas (BV), a certifying agent based in 
India, and consequently, all processes and operations are streamlined as per the ISO Standards.
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CORE VALUES 
E – Excellence and Quality 
T – Team Work 
H – Honesty 
I – Integrity
C – Commitment and safety 
S – Service Oriented 

MISSION 
To provide value to the shareholders and meet customer satisfaction 
through the manufacture and sale of quality cement in a sustainable 
manner. 

VISION 

To be the leading manufacturer and supplier of quality cement in the 
region.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR PAST 3 YEARS
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DIRECTORS PORTFOLIO
(DCCL BOARD OF DIRECTORS)
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Mr. Ugyen Namgyal currently serves as the head of the Corporate 
Services Department at DGPC. Prior to this role, he was the CEO of 
Druk Hydro Energy Limited, responsible for developing all small 
hydropower projects in Bhutan, and Tangsibji Hydro Energy Limited, 
a special purpose vehicle created to construct and commission the 
118 MW Nikachhu Hydropower Project.
He is a Certified Practicing Accountant (CPA) from CPA Australia. 
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) from Sherubtse 
College, Bhutan, and a Bachelor of Business from the University of 
South Australia, Adelaide.

Mr. Tashi Dawa currently serves as the Dzongdag of Pemagatshel 
Dzongkhag. Prior to this role, he was the Chief Program Officer at 
the Ministry of Economic Affairs and served as the Director of the 
Road Safety and Transport Authority (RSTA) under the Ministry 
of Information and Communications (MoIC). He holds a master’s 
degree in leadership and administration, along with post-graduate 
qualifications in Policy and Planning Studies and Educational 
Administration.

Mr. Dorji Nima is the Director of CPD at DHI. He heads the 
performance planning, monitoring and evaluation for the DHI 
Group. He has a Master’s degree in Business Administration (MBA) 
from Australian Graduate School of Entrepreneurship, Melbourne, 
Australia. He received Aus AID scholarship to pursue MBA in 
Australia and RGoB scholarship to pursue Bachelor of Business 
Administration degree from Madras University, India in 2001. Mr. 
Dorji serves as the nominee board director from DHI.

Ms. Dechen Yangden obtained her Bachelor Degree in Civil 
Engineering from University of Wollongong, Australia and 
Masters of Philosophy in Urban Infrastructure Management from 
Yokohama National University, Japan. She served as Assistant 
Engineer in BUDP, MoWHS (2002-2005), also served as Executive 
Engineer, MoWHS(2011 – 2014) and, presently serving as the 
Director, Department of Water, MoENR, Thimphu. She has a wide 
range of experience of 16 years in specialized technical fields such 
as planning, designing and implementation of urban infrastructur

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering earned her Bachelor of Commerce 
degree from North Bengal University, India in 2003, and completed 
an MBA program specializing in Corporate Strategy and Economic 
Policy at the Maastricht School of Management, the Netherlands, in 
2009. She began her career at the National Pension and Provident 
Fund as a Program Officer for Pension and Provident Division 
from 2003 to 2004. From 2005 to 2013, she worked in the Credit and 
Investment Division, progressing from Program Officer to Acting 
Chief. She then served as the Acting Chief of the Internal Audit Cell 
from 2014 to 2022. Currently, Ms. Tshering holds the position of 
Chief of the Portfolio Investment Division at the National Pension 
and Provident Fund in Thimphu.

Mr. Sonam Tobgye serves as the Director (Chief of Staff to the Prime 
Minister) at the Prime Minister’s Office in the Royal Government of 
Bhutan. He began his civil service career in the Cabinet Secretariat 
in 2006 and has held several key roles, including positions in the 
Cabinet Affairs Division, Public Service Delivery Division, and as 
member secretary to the Committee of Government Secretaries. He 
also served as Head of the Public Grievance Cell, Private Secretary 
to the Prime Minister from 2014-2018, and National Project Manager 
of the Electric Vehicle projects from 2021-2022.
Specializing in public policy formulation and project implementation, 
Mr. Tobgye holds a Master of Public Policy with a focus on economic 
policy from the Australian National University in Canberra. While in 
Australia, he founded the Australia-Bhutan Association of Canberra 
Inc. (ABAC).

Mr. Dechen Choling obtained Bachelor of Technology in Electrical 
& Electronics Engineering from University of Kerala, India in 2002; 
Master of Science in Electrical Engineering (MScE) from University 
of New Brunswick, Canada in 2009 and Master of Business 
Administration (MBA) from University of Canberra, Australia in 
2021. He worked for Bhutan Power Corporation Limited (BPC) 
from October 2002 – 2022. He was a General Manager for Strategic 
Planning & Business Development Department from 2019 – June 
2022, Thimphu, General Manager for Renewable Energy Department 
from 2016 – 2019. He also worked as a Project Manager for Wind 
Power Project, Project Engineer for National Load Dispatch Centre 
(NLDC), now Bhutan Power System Operator (BPSO) from 2009 – 
2011. He started his career in BPC as a Deputy Manager for Rural 
Electrification of six eastern districts of Bhutan from 2002 – 2005.
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Management Team
Head of Departments
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From Left to Right: Mr. Samdrup – General Manager, Plant and Mines Department. Mr. Loday 
Zangpo – Officiating General Manager, Corporate Service Department. Mrs. Karma Lhamo – 
Officiating General Manager, Finance and Accounts Department; 

Mr. Samdrup – General Manager (Plant and Mines)

Mr. Samdrup, General Manger (Plant and Mines Department) obtained his Bachelor of Science 
from Sherubtse College and Master of Science from Asian Institute of Technology (AIT), Bangkok, 
Thailand. He served as Head – Quality Division in Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited. Prior 
to joining Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited he served as Head – Production and Quality 
control in Penden Cement Authority Limited (PCAL), Gomtu, Samtse. 

Mr. Loday Zangpo – Officiating General Manager (Corporate Service Department)

Mr. Loday Zangpo, Offtg. GM CSD holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Arts from North Bengal University. 
He is currently serving as the head of the Procurement and Material Management Division at 
Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited. Before joining Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited, 
he worked as a manager at the Bhutan Institute of Well-being, which operates under the Bhutan 
Youth Development Fund (BYDF).

Mrs. Karma Lhamo – Officiating General Manager (Finance and Accounts)

Mrs. Karma Lhamo, the Officiating General Manager of the Finance and Accounts Department 
(FAD), obtained her bachelor’s degree in business administration (Finance) from Gaeddu College 
of Business Studies in 2013. She is currently serving as the Head of the Accounts Division. Prior 
to this, she served as the Deputy Finance Manager at Dungsam Polymer Limited for two years 
(2014-2016).
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT – DCCL 2024
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board and the Management of Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited (DCCL), I 
extend a warm welcome to all our valued shareholders to the 15th Annual General Meeting (AGM) 
of DCCL.

The Board is pleased to present the company’s performance for the period from 1st January 2024 to 
31st December 2024.

Operational Highlights

In 2024, DCCL produced a total of 405,032 MT of cement, compared to 496,437 MT in 2023, 
representing an 18% decrease. Total cement sales for the year amounted to 412,659 MT, down 14% 
from 479,030 MT in 2023.
The company faced major setback during the year. On October 22, 2024, Cement Silo No. 3 collapsed, 
causing significant damage to equipment and infrastructure, and loss of cement stock. This incident 
led to a complete halt in sales and production for over a month.
Following the incident, the company conducted an audit of the remaining cement silos, revealing 
that their conditions were below operational standards. Consequently, the storage capacity of the 
silos has been limited to 40% as recommended by consultants. Due to the restricted silo usage and 
storage capacity, operational flexibility has been severely impacted. Major retrofitting work is 
planned for 2025 to restore normal operations.
Overall, it has been a challenging year for the company.

Financial Highlights

1. Revenue 

In 2024, the company generated total revenue of Nu. 2,594.10 million, an 11% decline from Nu. 
2,902.47 million in 2023. The sharp drop in revenue was primarily due to the collapse of the 
cement silo, which resulted in a sales suspension for over a month. Additionally, sales orders 
from export customers were lost even after operations resumed. Furthermore, low domestic 
demand due to reduced economic activity contributed to the decline. Sales in the domestic non-
trade segment were lower due to the completion of hydropower projects. Meanwhile, export 
market prices continued to decline due to intense competition from other cement companies.
However, revenue from clinker sales increased significantly in 2024, amounting to Nu. 240.24 
million compared to Nu. 8.11 million in 2023.

2. Expenditure

Total expenditure for the year was Nu. 3,143.96 million, compared to Nu. 2,968.50 million in 
2023, reflecting a 6% increase. The rise in expenses was mainly due to the additional costs of Nu. 
109.95 million incurred from the cement silo collapse.
Employee benefits expenses increased to Nu. 267.60 million from Nu. 230.04 million in 2023, 
following a pay revision implemented in November 2023.
Depreciation and amortization expenses rose to Nu. 350.54 million from Nu. 306.50 million in 
2023, due to a revision in the useful life of spare parts from 30 years to a range of 2 to 20 years.
General Administration & Other Expenses increased to Nu. 208.65 million from Nu. 123.24 
million in 2023, mainly due to the additional expenses of Nu. 109.44 million incurred following 
the silo collapse.
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3. Profit/Loss Before Tax
The company recorded a loss of Nu. 549.86 million in 2024, compared to a loss of Nu. 66.04 
million in 2023. The primary cause of this significant loss was the cement silo collapse.
HR and Other Systems
In 2024, the company recruited 32 new employees, comprising 16 regular employees and 16 
contract employees. In the same year, 26 employees resigned, and 28 employees completed 
their contracts. As of December 31, 2024, the total employee strength stands at 464.
The company adheres to its service rules and regulations in managing human resources and 
other systems.

Corporate Governance 

DCCL complied with the 2016 Corporate Governance Code issued by Druk Holding and Investments 
(DHI) and all statutory requirements specified in the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan, 
2016.

The Board, comprising seven Directors, held six Board meetings and five Board Audit Committee 
(BAC) meetings in 2024. However, no meetings were held for the Board Human Resource Committee 
(BHRC) or the Board Procurement Committee (BPC). All Board and Committee directives were 
successfully implemented.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) represents the obligations of business to align its actions with 
the objectives and values of society as a whole. DCCL acknowledges its responsibility to deliver and 
set a precedent for a sustainable CSR guided by the country’s development philosophy of Gross 
National Happiness (GNH).

DCCL is committed to creating a positive impact on the environment and communities both 
within and beyond its business premises. By fostering a strong reputation, enhancing stakeholder 
relationships, and contributing to the sustainable development of society and the environment, the 
company actively supports local communities and non-governmental organizations.

As part of its CSR initiatives, DCCL donated 1,986.50 MT of drop cement and another 25 bags of 
good cement. The company also provided a monetary sponsorship of Nu. 20,000 to Nganglam 
Middle Secondary School for a theme song and Nu. 20,000 to Nganglam Central School for an open 
volleyball tournament held on National Day.

Statutory Audit 

The statutory audit was conducted by M/s. Karma & Associates, Lower Taba, Thimphu, as appointed 
by the Royal Audit Authority (RAA). The audit was carried out from January 13, 2025, to January 
24, 2025.
We are pleased to report that the audit resulted in no qualified opinions and no significant issues 
were raised. Additionally, the company’s Internal Audit team conducted regular audits to ensure 
proper checks and controls.

Key Challenges & Way Forward

Key Challenges 

1. Low calorific value of coal, increasing consumption rates and straining coal dosing feeders.

2. Weak cement silo structures, restricting storage capacity and causing frequent mill stoppages.

3. Intermittent power outages disrupting kiln operations and production continuity.

4. Stiff competition in the export market.
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5.	 Cash flow constraints limiting financial flexibility and hindering operational needs.

Way Forward

1.	 Stabilizing operations: The company continues its efforts to stabilize plant operations and 
increase production with available resources. Investments in maintenance over the past 
two years have led to improved plant conditions, but further work is required. Financial 
constraints have delayed spare part procurement, affecting maintenance schedules and 
availability of the plant. There is an immediate requirement of over Nu.4,00.00 million to 
further improve the plant availability. The company also has substantial payables and debt. 
The company seeks financial support from shareholders to address this issue.

2.	 National economic development projects: The anticipated commencement of national 
infrastructure projects is expected to drive demand and positively impact the company’s 
bottom line.

3.	 Export market focus: As the export market remains crucial, DCCL will focus on strengthening 
its presence in high-return markets.

4.	 Employee Retention: The company has been losing employees in large numbers to other 
companies in the country. The loss of experienced and critical technical staff poses serious 
challenges to the smooth operation and maintenance of the plant. Implementing some 
form of incentives for employees has become essential. The company seeks support from 
shareholders on this.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, Management, and employees of DCCL, I extend my sincere gratitude to 
our shareholders for their unwavering support and guidance. We look forward to your continued 
support.

We also express our appreciation to the Royal Government of Bhutan, various ministries, departments, 
and local agencies for their steadfast collaboration.
The Board acknowledges the dedication and hard work of DCCL’s management and employees 
despite the year’s challenges.

Lastly, we extend our heartfelt thanks to our valued customers for their trust in our Dragon brand 
and their continued loyalty.

Tashi Delek!

For and on behalf of Board

[Ugyen Namgyal]
Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited (DCCL) as a DHI owned company aims to achieve high 
Corporate Governance (CG Code) standards and ensure compliance with legislation, regulation and 
DHI CG Code 2016. 

DCCL has also complied with the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan 2016 and other statutory 
requirements of the Royal Government of Bhutan.  

CONSTITUTION OF THE BOARD AND ITS MEETINGS

Constitution of the Board of Directors: 

As per the approval of the Annual General Meeting (AGM), the following senior officials have been 
appointed as the Board of Directors for the Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited (DCCL).

No Name Addresses Designation Date of 
appointment Category

1. Mr. Ugyen 
Namgyel 

Director, CSD, 
Druk Green Power 
Corporation

Chairman March 2024 Non-
independent

3.
Mr. Tashi Dawa Dzongdag, 

Pemagatshel, Director March 2024 Independent

4.
Mr. Dorji Nima 

Director,CPD, 
Druk Holding and 
Investments Limited

Director June 2019 Non-
independent

5. Ms. Dechen 
Yangden

Director, Department of 
Water Services, MoENR Director June 2019 Independent 

6. Ms. Karma 
Yangzom Tshering

Investment Division, 
NPPF, Thimphu.  Director August 2023 Non-

independent

7.
Mr. Sonam Tobgye Director, Cabinet 

Secretariate Director March 2024 Non-
independent

8.
Mr. Dechen Choling CEO, Dungsam Cement 

Corporation Limited
CEO/
Director July 2022 Executive 

Director

Board Meetings: 

To enhance good governance and provide appropriate policy directives to the company, six (6) Board 
meetings were convened during the FY 2024. In all the Board meetings, quorum was maintained as 
required. The details of the board attendance are as follows:

Board 
Meeting

serial 
No.   

Dates Members Present Leave of absence

93 January 08, 2024

1. Dasho Karma Yezer Raydi                                                    	
2. Mr. Tashi Penjore 
3. Mr. Dorji Nima	              
4. Ms. Dechen Yangden
5. Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering
6. Mr. Dechen Choling

None
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94 March 07, 2024 

1. Dasho Karma Yezer Raydi
2. Mr.TashiPenjore	                     
3. Mr. Dorji Nima 	          		
4. Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering
6. Mr. Dechen Choling

1. Ms. Dechen Yangden

95 May 31, 2024

1. Mr. Ugyen Namgyal
2. Mr. Tashi Dawa	                    	
3. Mr. Dorji Nima 	             	
4. Ms. Dechen Yangden	
5. Mr. Karma Yangzom Tshering
6. Dechen Choling	

1. Mr. Sonam Tobgye

96 June 13, 2024              

1.Mr. Ugyen Namgyal	      	
	 2. Mr. Tashi Dawa                       	
3. Mr. Dorji Nima 
4. Mr. Sonam Tobgye 
5. Mr. Dechen Choling 

1. Ms. Dechen Yangden
2. Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering

97        August 01, 2024

1. Mr. Ugyen Namgyal         
2. Mr. Tashi Dawa
3. Mr. Dorji Nima
4. Ms. Dechen Yangden
5. Ms. Karma Yagzom Tshering
6. Mr. Dechen Choling      

 1. Sonam Tobgye

98        November 23, 
2024     

1. Mr. Ugyen Namgyal                                                                 
2. Mr. Tashi Dawa
3. Mr. Dorji Nima 
4. Ms. Dechen Yangden 
5. Ms. Karma Yagzom Tshering 
6. Mr. Dechen Choling

1. Sonam Tobgye

 
Board Sub-committee Meetings and Procedures:

Board Audit Committee Meetings (BAC) 

Besides six (6) board meetings, five (5) Board Audit Committee meetings were also conducted. In 
all the BAC meetings, quorum was maintained as required. The details of the board attendance are 
as follows:

BAC 
Meeting 

No.
Dates Members Present Leave of Absence

49 March 4, 2024 1. Mr. Dorji Nima 
2. Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering 1. Ms. Dechen Yangden

50 July 15, 2024
1. Mr. Dorji Nima 
2. Ms. Dechen Yangden
3. Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering

None

51 November 15, 2024
1. Mr. Dorji Nima 
2. Ms. Dechen Yangden 
3. Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering

None
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52 November 20, 2024
1. Mr. Dorji Nima 
2. Ms. Dechen Yangden
3. Ms. Tshering Lham

1. Ms. Dechen Yangden

53 December 30, 2024
1. Mr. Dorji Nima 
2. Ms. Dechen Yangden
3. Karma Yangzom Tshering

None

Board Remuneration 

As per the CG standards the board directors are entitled for certain remuneration for every board 
meeting as sitting fees. The details of the remunerations paid for the board directors are as follows:

Sl.
no Board Meetings Held Board Directors Remuneration 

paid (Nu) Attendance

1

93rd Board Meeting
Venue: Zoom online 
conference
Date: January 08, 2024

Dasho Karma Yezer Raydi, Chairman 8,000 Present 
Mr. TashiPenjore 8,000 Present 
Mr. Dorji Nima 8,000 Present 
Ms. Dechen Yangden 8,000 Present
Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering 8,000 Present

2

94th Board Meeting
Venue: Zoom online 
conference
Date: March 07, 2024

Dasho Karma Yezer Raydi, Chairman 8,000 Present
Mr. TashiPenjore 8,000 Present 
Mr. Dorji Nima 8,000 Present 
Ms. Dechen Yangden NA Absent
Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering 8,000 Present

3

95th Board Meeting
Venue: DHI, 
Thimphu
Date: May 31, 2024

Mr. Ugyen Namgyal 8,000 Present
Mr. Tashi Dawa 8,000 Present
Mr. Dorji Nima 8,000 Present 
Ms. Dechen Yangden 8,000 Present
Ms. Karma Yangzom Tsheringh 8,000 Present
Mr. Sonam Tobgye NA Absent 
Mr. Dechen Choling 8,000 Present

4

96th Board Meeting
Venue: Zoom online 
conference 
Date: June 13, 2024

Mr. Ugyen Namgyal 8,000 Present
Mr. Tashi Dawa 8,000 Present 
Mr. Dorji Nima 8,000 Present
Ms. Dechen Yangden NA Absent
Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering NA Absent

5

97th Board Meeting
Venue: DHI, 
Thimphu
Date: August 01, 2024

Mr. Ugyen Namgyal 8,000 Present 
Mr. Tashi Dawa 8,000 Present 
Mr. Dorji Nima 8,000 Present 
Ms. Dechen Yangden 8,000 Present 
Ms. Karma Yangzom Tsheri ng 8,000 Present 
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6

98th Board Meeting
Venue: DHI, 
Thimphu
Date: November 23 
2024

Mr. Ugyen Namgyal 8,000 Present 
Mr. Tashi Dawa 8,000 Present 
Mr. Dorji Nima 8,000 Present 
Ms. Dechen Yangden 8,000 Present 
Ms. Karma Yangzom Tshering 8,000 Present 
Mr. Sonam Tobgye NA Absent 
Mr. Dechen Choling 8,000 Present

Annual General Meeting (AGM)  

The 15thAGM for the financial year ended 2024 was convened on March 14, 2025 at Board Room, 
Druk Holding and Investments Limited (DHI). The following agenda were deliberated during the 
15th AGM:

Agenda 15.01 Adoption of the 15th Annual General Meeting Agenda 

Agenda 15.02 Confirmation and Adoption of the Minutes of the 14th Annual General Meeting   

Agenda 15.03 Presentation of Directors’ Report for FY 2024

Agenda 15.04 Consideration of Audited Accounts and Auditor’s Report for the Financial Year 		
ended 31st December 2024.                                

Agenda 15.05 Declaration of Dividend, if any

Agenda 15.06 Endorsement of Remuneration of CEO and Directors 

Agenda 15.07 Appointment of Statutory Auditors

Agenda 15.08 Retirement and Appointment of Board Directors

Agenda 15.09 Review of Annual Compact 2024

Agenda 15.10 Any other matter  

Appointment and Retirements of Board Directors

The Shareholders endorsed the appointment/reappointment of following board directors on 
DCCL Board.

Sl No. Current Board Director Designation/Address Remark

1 Mr. Ugyen Namgyal CEO, Druk Hydro Energy Limited 
(Chair of the Board)

No change2 Ms. Dechen Yangden Director, DoW, MoENR
3 Mr. Tashi Dawa Dzongda, P/Gatshel
4 Mr. Dorji Nima Director, CPD, DHI
5 Ms. Karma Yangzom Investment Division, NPPF NPPF Nominee

6 Mr. Sonam Tobgye Director, Cabinet Secretariat

Rerire and replace  by 
Ms. Yeshey Selden, 
Commissioner , DRC, 
MoF
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Risk Management System 

The DCCL Risk management framework was implemented in 2016 after the endorsement by the 
board during the 51st board meeting. A risk register template was developed and distributed by 
DHI to the DHI Companies to encourage enterprise risk management within the company. DCCL 
has assigned and designated a Risk officer who is assigned to compile a risk report for manage-
ment’s information and action. 

SN Activities Risk identified Mitigation and Controls Risk Owner

1
Sales of cement 
in domestic and 
export market

Loss of Market 
share and Net 
realisation

1. Strictly monitor the market 
trend and continue to assess the 
impact of the existing measures.                                           
2.packing cement price in domestic 
market at par or almost at par with 
another national brand                       

Sales & Marketing 
Department

2 Spare parts 
procurements

Inability to 
maintain enough 
critical spare 
parts and delays 
in delivery due 
to weak financial 
position of the 
company 

1. Identification and listing 
of and critical parts and 
maintain minimum stock                                               
2. Assessed condition of installed 
equipment               3. Proper 
inventory management 

Risk Manager

3 Equipment 
operation

Technology and 
equipment/parts 
obsolescence

Deploy Service Engineer 
and consult about the 
repairs and equipment life
.                             Execute annual 
Maintenance during the off season

Plant and Mines 
Department

3
Quality monitoring 
from raw material 
to finish product

Quality deviation, 
failure & rejection 
of cements due 
to wrong raw 
mix/mix design 
(strategic risk)

 Continuous monitoring of Raw 
mix as an when source or the lot/
batch of RM changes. Ahere to 
applicable standards  

Quality Division

4
Procurement of 
Resources (Spare 
parts, raw material)

Exorbitant rate of 
equipment/parts 
due to dependency 
on few vendors 

 Diversification of suppliers                             
Evaluation and Rating of supplier                                    
Building mutual long-term 
relationship

Head, PMMD & 
Risk Manager

5

Operation activity

Accident at work 
place/loss of life 
due to improper 
work approach and 
lighting 

1. Awareness program on safety 
precaution                     2. Working 
platform to be extended and 
well maintained                         3. 
Installation of light in all plant area

Plant and Mines 
Department

Health hazards 
due to harsh work 
environment 
especially in 
chemical laboratory 
and X-ray; lab

1. Compiling the Material Safety 
Data Sheet (MSDS)                          2. 
Safety training awareness and 
using PPE                            3. 
Attached Safety gadgets around 
the working premises

Plant and Mines 
Department

Equipment 
operation

Damage of 
equipment due to 
mis-operation by 
controllers 

1. Training & Development                                      
2. Need to retain experience 
operator

Plant and Mines 
Department

Production Production loss due 
to breakdown 

1. Condition Based Monitoring 
(CBM) team should timely monitor 
the checkup equipment    

Plant and Mines 
Department
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6

Repair and 
maintenance of 
machines, process 
equipment’s 

Delay in 
maintenance of 
machines and 
equipment due to 
non-delivery of 
spare parts on time

1. Daily inspection   by site 
attendants.      2. Formed Condition 
Based Monitoring team.                    

Plant and Mines 
Department

7
Repairing and 
Maintenance of 
Plant Structure

Structural failure 
due to age  

1. Structural auditing was carried 
out 2. Leakage sealing 3. Proper 
house keeping

Plant and Mines 
Department

8 Power supply from 
BPC

Power fluctuation 
from grid (BPC) Impact Analysis carried Corporate Level

9
Quality of 
limestone from 
mines

Abnormal coating 
formation in 
Kiln & snowman 
formation inside 
Cooler due to high 
MgO contain in 
limestone 

1. Daily management & co-
ordination with Quality Control 
Division                             2. Used 
of high-pressure pump to break 
snowman.  3. Use coal with low ash

Process Head, 
Quality Head & 
Mines Head

10

Mobilizing the 
trade receivables 
to ensure the 
cash flow of the 
company

Litigation with 
parties/vendors 
due to delay in 
payment

Litigation going on with the parties 
and are in the process of collection 
as per the verdict issued by the 
Court

SMD and Finance 
Department 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) represents the obligations of business to align its actions with 
the objectives and values of society as a whole. DCCL acknowledges its responsibility to deliver and 
set a precedent for a sustainable CSR guided by the country’s development philosophy of Gross 
National Happiness (GNH).

DCCL is committed to creating a positive impact on the environment and communities both 
within and beyond its business premises. By fostering a strong reputation, enhancing stakeholder 
relationships, and contributing to the sustainable development of society and the environment, the 
company actively supports local communities and non-governmental organizations.

As part of its CSR initiatives, DCCL donated 1,986.50 MT of drop cement and another 25 bags of 
good cement. The company also provided a monetary sponsorship of Nu. 20,000 to Nganglam 
Middle Secondary School for a theme song and Nu. 20,000 to Nganglam Central School for an open 
volleyball tournament held on National Day.

Policies and practices of CEO and board evaluation 
The evaluation of CEO and the board is coordinated and carried out by DHI as per their DHI 
Guidelines.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
DUNGSAM CEMENT CORPORATION LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited (the Company), 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31st December 2024, the statement of com-
prehensive income, Statement of changes in equity and Statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as at December 31, 2024 and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Bhutanese Accounting Standards (BAS).

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Bhutan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these require-
ments. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a reasonable basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statement 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with BAS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to ena-
ble the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s abil-
ity to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Com-
pany or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintained 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also 

i.	 Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that are sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

ii.	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

iii.	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of ac-
counting estimates and related disclosures made by the management.

iv.	 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of ac-
counting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are re-
quired to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our audit’s report. However, fu-
ture events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

v.	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, includ-
ing the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transac-
tions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with rele-
vant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applica-
ble, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our audit report unless law or regu-
lation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequenc-
es of doing so would reasonably be expected to the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by Section 266 of the Companies Act of Bhutan 2016, we enclose the Minimum Audit 
Examination and Reporting Requirements as Appendix I with statements on the matters specified 
therein to the extent applicable.

As required by Section 265 of the Act, we report that:

a)	 We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowl-
edge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit;
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b)	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the Compa-
ny so far as appears from our examination of the books;

c)	 The Statement of Financial Position, The Statement of Comprehensive Income, The State-
ment of Changes in Equity and The Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this report are 
in agreement with the books of accounts and returns.

d)	 Based on the information, explanations and management representations received during 
the course of our audit, the Company has complied with other legal and regulatory re-
quirements to the extent applicable to the Company.

For Karma and Associates.
Chartered Accountants

(Chimmi Dorji-FCCA)
Managing Partner                                                                   
Firm Reg. No: BH-04	

Place: Thimphu
Date:
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Appendix I

Annexure referred to in our audit report of even date on Minimum Audit Examination and Re-
porting Requirements (to the extent applicable)

General
In our opinion and according to information and explanations given to us, we report that:

1. The Companies has adhered to the Corporate Governance Guidelines and Regulation as 
applicable to them.

2.The Governing Board of the Company has pursued a prudent and sound financial manage-
ment practice in managing the affairs of the Company.

3. The financial statements are prepared applying the Bhutanese Accounting Standard issued 
by the Accounting and Auditing Standards Board of Bhutan (AASBB).

4. Proper books of accounts have been maintained and financial statements are in agreement 
with the underlying accounting records.

5. Adequate records as specified under section 228 of the Companies Act of Bhutan 2016 have 
been maintained.

6. Applicable mandatory obligations social or otherwise are being fulfilled.

7.The amount of tax is computed correctly and reflected in the financial statements.

Matters pertaining to a manufacturing, mining or processing company:

1. The Company has generally maintained Property, Plant & Equipment (PPE) Register show-
ing full particulars including quantitative details and location of PPE is available. Physical 
verification of PPE was done during the year internally.

2. None of the fixed assets of the Company have been revalued during the year under audit.

3. The procedures of physical verification of stocks followed by the management are reasona-
ble and adequate in relation to the size of the company and the nature of its business and 
the same is supported by a physical verification inventory report done by management on 
every half yearly basis.

4. The method of valuation of inventory for the company is adequate and commensurate with 
the size and nature of business.

5. On sample basis we have examined certain stocks and no discrepancy were identified be-
tween physical verification of the stock and the book stock. 

6. The Company is following a reasonable system of recording the receipts, issues and con-
sumption of material and store. 

7. At the end of the accounting year, the Company has carried out a quantitative reconciliation 
in respect of all the major items of inventories.
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8. The obsolete, damaged, slow moving and surplus goods/ inventories has been identified 
by the management by a physical inventory verification report done on every half yearly 
basis. Where the value of such items is significant, adequate provision has been made.

9. Obsolete inventories has not been written off during the year 2024.

10. Appropriate approval of the Board/ appropriate authority has been obtained for writing 
off the amount of material loss/ discrepancies in the physical balances of inventories in-
cluding finished goods, raw materials, and stores & spares based on the power authorized 
by the Delegation of Power (DOP) of the Company.

11. The stocks have been valued based on the applicable Accounting Standards issued by the 
Accounting and Auditing Standard Board of Bhutan (AASBB). The basis of valuation is the 
same as in the preceding year.

12.The rate of interest and the other terms and conditions of loans availed by the company 
secured or unsecured are prima facie not prejudicial to the interest of the company. 

13. The Company has not granted any loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms and 
other parties and/or to the companies under the same management.

14. Interest free advances given by the Company to outside parties and the employees have 
been generally adjusted/ recovered as per stipulation. Reasonable steps have been taken 
by the Company for recovery of the principal amounts, interest thereon (wherever applica-
ble). Advances have been granted to officers/staff generally in keeping with the provisions 
of service rules. Excessive/frequent advances are granted and/or accumulation of large 
advances against any particular individual are generally avoided.

15. In our opinion and according to the information and explanations given to us in course of 
the audit, the Company has generally established reasonably adequate system of internal 
controls to ensure completeness, accuracy and reliability of accounting records, to carry 
out the business in an orderly and efficient manner, to safeguard the assets of the Com-
pany as well as to ensure adherence to the applicable rules/ regulations and systems and 
procedures. 

16. A reasonable system of authorization at proper level is there for the issue of stores and 
allocation of materials and labour to job. The system of internal control (though it needs 
strengthening) prevalent is commensurate with the size of the company and nature of its 
business.

17. In course of our audit we have observed that the Company, in general, has a system of ob-
taining competitive biddings/quotations from more than one party in respect of purchase 
of property, plant and equipment and other assets.

18. Transactions for purchase and sale of goods and services with the director(s) or any other 
party(ies) related to the director(s) or with company or firms in which the director(s) are 
directly or indirectly interested are disclosed by the company in note no. 46 of the financial 
statements. As these transactions have been made at prices, which are reasonable having 
regard to the prevailing market prices or at prices at which such transactions have been 
made with other parties and are not prejudicial to the interest of other shareholders and 
the Company.
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19. During the course of our examination of the books of account carried out in accordance 
with the generally accepted auditing practices, we have neither come across any person-
al expenses (other than contractual and/or as per customary business practices), which 
have been charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income nor have we been informed 
about such cases by the management.

20. The operational condition of the inventories verified has not been ascertained and no provi-
sion for loss if any arising due to its condition has been provided in the books of accounts.

21. As informed to us, there is reasonable system of ascertaining and identifying point of occur-
rence of breakage/damages of raw materials, packaging materials and finished products 
i.e. while in transit, during processing, during loading/unloading, in storage and during 
handling etc. so that responsibility could be fixed and compensation sought from those 
responsible.

22. As explained to us, the Company has reasonable record for production of finished goods 
and adequate safeguards exist to prevent unauthorized or irregular movement of goods 
from the Company.

23. Based on the records maintained by the company and produced before us, the company is 
maintaining reasonable records for sale and disposal of realizable by-products and scraps.

24. According to the records maintained by the company and produced to us, the Company 
has generally been regular in depositing rates and taxes, provident fund and other statuto-
ry dues with the appropriate authorities.

25. According to the information and explanations given to us and on the basis of our observa-
tion, the following undisputed statutory dues were outstanding as on 31.12.2024

- Bhutan Sales Tax: Nu. 4,746,915.19

- Salary TDS Payable: Nu. 196,823.25

26. The Company has a reasonable system of allocation of man-hours to jobs/ contracts to 
commensurate with the size and nature of business of the Company.

27. In our opinion, there is a reasonable system of price fixation taking into account the cost of 
production and the market conditions as decided by the Sales Committee of the Company 
from time to time.

28. The Company has made credit sales during the year. The Company has formed a credit 
and collection policy. However, the policy is silent in case recoveries are not made from 
customers within due time and security deposit to be given by a customer. The Company 
does not have a policy of credit rating of customers.

29. The company has a process of regular evaluation of the commission agent on regular basis 
based on the industry norms/ market condition.

30. In our opinion, the Company, in general, has a system of following up with debtors and 
other parties except in few cases for recovery of outstanding dues. As explained to us, age 
wise analysis of debtors is regularly carried out and follow up actions undertaken.
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31. In our opinion, and on the basis of information and explanations given to us, the manage-
ment of liquid resources, particularly cash/bank etc. are, in general, reasonably adequate 
and excessive amounts are not lying idle in non-interest-bearing accounts.

32. According to the information and explanations given to us, and on the basis of available 
records and information, we are of the opinion that the financial activities carried out by 
the Company during the year are prima facie lawful and intra-vires to the Articles of As-
sociation of the Company.

33. We are given to understand that Capital investment decisions are made with prior ap-
proval of the Board and investments in new projects are made only after ascertaining the 
technical and economic feasibility of such new projects.

34. The present system of budgeting, in our opinion, is generally reasonable.

35. Standard costing system is being established but variance analysis is not being carried out 
by the company at regular intervals.

36. Directors who have acted as the CEO of the company have been paid remuneration other 
than sitting fees. The details of remuneration and other payments to the Managing Direc-
tor/ CEO are disclosed in the accounts, is stated in Note No. 46. Based on the review of the 
records relating to the performance of the Board meetings, we have not come across any 
cases of disclosure of interest where payments have been made in cash or in kind to any 
of the directors and their relatives (including spouse(s) and child/children) by Company 
directly or indirectly, other than those mentioned above, nor have we been informed any 
of such case by the management.

37. As represented to us, the directives of the Board have generally been complied with.

38. We are given to understand by the management that the officials of the Company are 
refrained from transmitting any sensitive information which are not publicly available, 
unauthorized to their relatives/friends/associates or close persons which will directly or 
indirectly benefit themselves.

39. According to the information and explanations given to us, the Company has a reasonable 
system of ascertaining cost of its goods to enable it to make proper pricing decisions. How-
ever, pricing of its goods is largely market driven.

40. On the basis of information and explanations given to us, proper agreements are executed 
and that the terms and conditions of leases are reasonable and the same are applied if ma-
chinery/equipment are acquired on lease or leased out to others.

COMPUTERISED ACCOUNTING ENVIRONMENT

1. The Company has implemented “SAP”, which seems to be fully stabilized to ensure effec-
tive internal control over operations but in our opinion a system audit should be carried 
out to ensure the same. At the same time new SAP RISE is currently being implemented 
and is in the first phase of data migration.

2. According to the information and explanation given to us, the Company has adequate safe-
guard measures of its data and back up facilities for its data and maintains the same at 
Thimphu
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3. The Company is maintaining appropriate backup facilities and disaster recovery measure at 
a different location.

4. The operational controls are found to be adequate to ensure correctness and validity of input 
data and output information subject to our Management Report.

5. The Company has implemented proper measures for prevention of unauthorized access 
over the computer installation and files.

6. The data migration system is effectively managed by the Company.

GENERAL

1. Going Concern Issues:

On review of the state of affairs as reflected by the Company’s Statement of Financial accepted au-
diting standards, we have no reason to believe that the Company is not a going concern on the date 
of the Statement of Financial Position (i.e. 31stDecember 2024).

2. Ratio Analysis:

Included in a separate Annexure.

3. Compliances with the Companies Act of Bhutan, 2016
The company has generally complied with the requirements of the Companies Act of Bhutan, 2016 
concerning conducting of meetings, filing requirements, maintenance of records, issue of shares, 
raising of loans and all other matters specified in the said Act except as mentioned in the compliance 
checklist and management report signed by us on the even date.

4. Adherence to Laws, Rules and Regulations

The audit of the Company is governed by the Companies Act of Bhutan, 2016 and the scope of audit 
is limited to examination and review of the financial statements, as produced to us by the manage-
ment.

In the course of audit, we have reviewed compliance to the Companies Act and its Articles of Asso-
ciation however, we are unable to state that the company has been complying with other applicable 
laws, rules and regulations, system, procedures and practices.

For Karma and Associates

(Chimmi Dorji-FCCA)
Managing Partner, 
Firm Reg: BH-04						    

Place: Thimphu
Date:
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PARTICULARS Notes
(Amount in Nu)

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

ASSETS  

Non-Current Assets  

Property, Plant and Equipment 2 6,595,242,189.79 6,919,291,913.82

Right to Use Asset 3 7,403,891.00 7,236,770.00

Intangible Asset 4 30,762,132.00 34,085,085.00

Capital Work-in-Progress 5 4,972,355.97 171,946.26

Investments 6 4,400,945.75 87,230,120.26

Other Non-Current Assets 9 49,370,553.97 49,622,110.97

    6,692,152,068.48 7,097,637,946.31

Current Assets:  

Inventories 10 899,308,618.64 1,028,589,035.81

Trade & Other Receivables 7(b) 163,324,809.36 250,588,197.97

Loans & Advances 8(b) 27,356,427.88 18,091,229.31

Cash and Cash Equivalents 11 71,671,467.11 36,870,914.41

Prepaid Tax 12 7,223,645.65 36,731,987.54

Other Current Assets 13 15,429,667.21 18,146,899.44

  1,184,314,635.85 1,389,018,264.48

 Asset classified as held for sale 14 8,356,101.05 3,192,986.43

TOTAL   7,884,822,805.38 8,489,849,197.22

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Shareholders’ Equity 15 7,368,264,800.00 7,330,645,000.00

Retained Earnings /(Loss)   (6,586,101,389.60) (6,243,176,308.03)

    782,163,410.40 1,087,468,691.97

Non-Current Liabilities  

Borrowings 16 2,558,131,028.86 3,758,591,811.36

Lease Liability 17 9,305,561.28 8,676,241.96

Deferred tax liabilities(net) 34 1,231,165,143.38 1,431,897,275.66

Employee benefit liabilities 19(a) 81,258,303.07 78,153,284.33

Other Long-Term Liabilities 20 2,632,096.05 2,387,155.05

    3,882,492,132.64 5,279,705,768.36

Current Liabilities  

Current Borrowings 21 2,160,120,808.90 983,821,108.61

DUNGSAM CEMENT CORPORATION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024
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Trade and Other Payables 18(b) 1,030,347,565.49 1,095,689,877.98

Employee benefit liabilities 19(b) 8,760,504.58 8,205,321.95

Other Current Liabilities 22 20,938,383.37 34,958,428.35

    3,220,167,262.34 2,122,674,736.89

TOTAL   7,884,822,805.38 8,489,849,197.22

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 1-57 In-terms of our audit report of event date 
attached.

FOR KARMA & ASSOCIATE                  
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. BH-04

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(UGYEN NAMGYAL)
      CHAIRMAN

(CHIMMI DORJI-FCCA)   
MANAGING PARTNER                                   

(DECHEN CHOLING)  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PLACE: THIMPHU
DATE: 
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DUNGSAM CEMENT CORPORATION LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Particulars Note
(Amount in Nu)

31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Revenue      

Revenue from sale of Cement 23(a) 2,310,116,751.76 2,862,495,004.51

Revenue from sale of Clinker 23b) 240,241,070.00 8,109,104.00

Other Revenue 24 43,739,579.99 31,862,408.05

Total Revenue   2,594,097,401.75 2,902,466,516.56

Expenditure  

Consumption of raw materials & 
Consumables 25 482,677,813.19 570,612,799.29

Changes in Inventory of work in prog-
ress and finished goods 26 14,245,177.83 (539,410,624.39)

Power & Fuel 27 948,533,414.39 1,233,720,142.51

Employee benefit expenses 28 267,604,512.64 230,035,164.32

Depreciation & Amortization 29 350,535,158.85 306,503,754.85

Selling & Marketing Expenses 30 186,072,027.57 339,041,148.27

Operation & Maintenance Expenses 31 322,401,445.20 353,658,643.77

General Admin & Other Expenses 32 208,654,231.18 123,244,173.61

Finance Cost 33 363,231,407.26 351,098,272.75

Total Expenditure   3,143,955,188.11 2,968,503,474.98

Profit /(Loss) Before Income Tax   (549,857,786.36) (66,036,958.42)

Current Income Tax  

Deferred Income Tax Income 34 200,732,132.28

Profit/ (Loss) After Income Tax   (349,125,654.08) (66,036,958.42)

Other Comprehensive income/(Loss)  
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Deferred Income Tax Income/
(Expenses) 34 - (229,329,781.71)

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) on post-em-
ployment benefit obligations   6,200,572.51 (25,683,262.66)

Gain/loss on revaluation of land   - (809,079.30)

Net Other Comprehensive Income/
(Loss)   6,200,572.51 (255,013,044.37)

Total Comprehensive Income/(Loss)   (342,925,081.57) (321,050,002.79)

Basic and Diluted Earnings per share 35 (4.60) (0.90)

FOR KARMA & ASSOCIATE                  
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. BH-04

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(UGYEN NAMGYAL)
      CHAIRMAN

(CHIMMI DORJI-FCCA)   
MANAGING PARTNER                                   

(DECHEN CHOLING)  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PLACE: THIMPHU
DATE: 
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Authorized Capital

Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023
 80,000,000 Equity shares of Nu.100 each 8,000,000,000 8,000,000,000
 20,000,000 Preference shares of Nu.100 each 2,000,000,000 2,000,000,000
 Total 10,000,000,000 10,000,000,000

FOR KARMA & ASSOCIATE                  
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. BH-04

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(UGYEN NAMGYAL)
      CHAIRMAN

(CHIMMI DORJI-FCCA)   
MANAGING PARTNER                                   

(DECHEN CHOLING)  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PLACE: THIMPHU
DATE: 
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DUNGSAM CEMENT CORPORATION LIMITED
 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024

Particulars
 (Amount in Nu) 

31/12/2024 31/12/2023
Cash Flow from Operating Activities    
Net Profit after Tax (549,857,786.36) (66,036,958.42)
Adjustment for:
Depreciation/amortization 350,535,158.85 306,503,754.85
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of PPE 4,130,497.73 6,665,382.00
Retirement/Scrapping of Inventories & PPE 130,427,931.37 56,675,011.43
Interest expenses on Borrowing 359,092,640.64 344,428,119.59
Unwinding interest (income)/expense on discounts 3,676,054.18 2,930,808.80
Adjustment of Actuarial Gain/Loss - (25,683,262.66)
Gain/loss on revaluation of land - (809,079.30)
Operating profit before working capital changes 298,004,496.41 624,673,776.29
Adjustment for 
(Increase)/Decrease in Trade Receivables and Other 
Receivables 87,263,388.61 51,422,065.95

(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances (Current & 
Non-Current) (9,265,198.57) 20,003,505.48

(Increase)/Decrease in Other Non-Current Assets 251,557.00 (5,157,031.00)
(Increase)/Decrease in Other Current Assets 32,225,574.12 37,084,545.57
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories 129,280,417.17 (352,218,598.88)
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade Payables (65,342,312.49) 282,342,582.31
Increase/(Decrease) in Employee Liabilities 9,860,773.88 19,677,500.66
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Long-Term Liabilities 244,941.00 183,561.00
Increase/(Decrease) in Lease Liability 629,319.32 (1,937,354.04)
Increase/(Decrease) in Other Current Liabilities (14,020,044.98) (18,132,137.06)
Net cash generated from operating activities before 
income tax 171,128,415.06 33,268,639.99

Less: Tax Paid - -
Net Cash from Operating activities (A) 469,132,911.47 657,942,416.28
 
Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Purchase of PPE & Intangible assets and CWIP (28,130,012.53) (18,714,408.07)
Fixed Deposit with Bank 76,871,630.31 (64,525,877.76)
Proceed from/withdrawal of Assets (139,721,543.72) (66,069,339.06)
Interest received during year 5,957,544.20 2,915,017.38
Net Cash from Investing Activities (B) (85,022,381.74) (146,394,607.51)
 
Cash Flow from Financing Activities
Decrease/Issue of Share Capital 37,619,800.00 -
Short term Borrowings repaid 1,176,299,700.29 (740,356,953.71)
Long term Borrowings repaid/availed during the year (1,200,460,782.50) 518,199,003.12



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited 41

Interest Paid during the year (362,768,694.82) (347,358,928.39)
Payment of principal amount of lease liability
Net cash generated from/use in financing activities (C) (349,309,977.03) (569,516,878.98)
 
Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 
(A+B+C) 34,800,552.70 (57,969,070.21)

 
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year 36,870,914.41 94,839,984.62
 
Cash & Cash equivalents at the end of the year 71,671,467.11 36,870,914.41

 1. The above Statement of Cash Flow has been prepared under the “Indirect Method” as set 
out in the Bhutanese Accounting Standard-7 on ‘Statement of Cash Flows’. 

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents include cash in hand and bank balances in current accounts [Re-
fer Note No. 11 to the Accounts].

3. Figures in brackets indicate cash outflows.

In-terms of our audit report of event date attached.

FOR KARMA & ASSOCIATE                  
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
FIRM REG. NO. BH-04

FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(UGYEN NAMGYAL)
      CHAIRMAN

(CHIMMI DORJI-FCCA)   
MANAGING PARTNER                                   

(DECHEN CHOLING)  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PLACE: THIMPHU
DATE: 
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Note 01: NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

A. General Information:

Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited (DCCL) subsidiary of Druk Holding & Investments (DHI), 
A Royal Government of Bhutan undertaking. The Company has been incorporated and registered 
under The Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan 2000(revised to Companies Act of Bhutan 
2016) as limited liability on 10th September 2009. The registered office of the Company is located in 
Nganglam, Pemagatshel, Bhutan. The Company is engaged in manufacturing and selling of cement 
(OPC-43, PPC and PSC) within country and export to India. The Company also sells Clinker to India.

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with and are fully compliant with 
the Bhutanese Accounting Standards (BAS), except as stated otherwise in the financial statements. 
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024 were authorized for 
issue by the Board of Directors on dated 14/03/2025

B.Significant accounting policies:

1.1) Basis of preparation:

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in ac-
cordance and in compliance with the Bhutanese Accounting Standards and the relevant provisions 
of The Companies Act of Kingdom of Bhutan. 

These financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting with the historical 
cost convention and going concern basis except as stated otherwise in the Financial Statements. 

The preparation of the Financial Statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates 
and judgments. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the process of applying the 
Company’s accounting policies and the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabili-
ties may differ from the estimates. In areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements.

1.2) The functional/presentation currency:

The items and figures included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the Company operates referred to as the “functional cur-
rency”. The functional currency and presentation currency of the Company is Bhutanese Ngultrum.

1.3) Foreign currency translation:

Foreign currency transactions that are completed within the accounting period are translated into 
Bhutan Ngultrum using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of settlement. Monetary assets and 
liabilities in foreign currencies at balance sheet date are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing 
at balance sheet date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-
rencies are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

1.4) Property, plant and equipment:

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) is initially recognized at cost. The company follows cost model 
for PPE and are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and where applicable accumulated im-
pairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited 43

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use, and the costs 
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Only those 
costs are recognized as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the entity and the cost can be measured reliably.

Subsequent expenditures relating to property, plant and equipment is capitalized only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with these will flow to the Company and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the retired part is derecognized. 

The spare parts and servicing equipment are normally treated as inventory and expensed off as and 
when consumed. However, major spare parts and stand-by equipment which qualifies as PPE ful-
filling the value more than Nu. 500,000/- and are expected to be used for a period of more than one 
year are capitalized as Critical and Capital Spares. However, the Depreciation is charged on basis of 
following nature of spares by identifying Critical Spares and Capital Spares.

a. Critical Spares to ensure smooth operation of Plant & Machinery without interruptions which 
Plant cannot operate. The depreciation of such will be immediately charged over the life of main 
assets.

b. Capital spares are replacement parts and that will be installed and put into use at a later date. The 
deprecation of such will be charged as and when it is installed, on the life of the main asset.

	
	 Land is not depreciated. Company provides depreciation on property, plant and equipment on 

straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets which are as follows

Asset Class Useful life
Building and civil structure 35 years
Plant and machinery 2-30 years
Furniture and fixtures 7 years
Office equipment 7 years
Vehicle 10 years
Other equipment 7 years
Right to Use Valued based on lease period

Building includes semi-permanent buildings. Useful life of semi-permanent buildings and civil 
structure is estimated at 10 years. 

The other equipment includes Infrastructure for Power.  Useful life of Infrastructure for power is 
estimated at 7-20 years.

Assets in nature of tools, tackles, implements, equipment’s which are consumables in nature and 
expected useful is not more than a year, assets costing Nu. 5,000 and below are expensed off. Assets 
that are fully depreciated but still in use are recorded at Nu.1 for each asset for the purpose of mon-
itoring.

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each report-
ing period. The residual values are not more than 5% of the original cost of the asset.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized under other income or other expenses as the case may be, in the statement of 
comprehensive Income.
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1.5) Intangible assets:

Acquired SAP ERP software, central control room software, website and other licenses are capital-
ized on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire the specific software. These costs are amortized over 
their estimated useful lives of 13-20 years. Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programs are recognized as an expense as incurred.

Intangible assets are derecognized either at the time of their disposal or when no future economic 
benefit is expected from their use or disposal. Any gain or loss, recognized through profit or loss, is 
calculated as the difference between the net considerations received in the disposal with the carrying 
amount, and are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

1.6) Impairment of assets:

Assets are tested for impairment as per BAS 36 whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount 
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assess-
ing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable 
cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets 
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

1.7) Investment Property: 

The investment Property (BAS 40) is initially recognized at original cost and subsequently recog-
nised the capital gains and earnings. The company follows cost model and are stated at cost less 
accumulated gains. The property, land, gratuity, and Bond redemption reserve are classified as in-
vestment property disclosed in Notes.
 
1.8) Capital- Work- In-Progress:

Cost of the fixed assets not ready for their intended use at the Statement of Financial Position date 
together with all related expense are shown as Capital Work-in-Progress. The Capital Work in Pro-
gress is recorded as fixed asset only when its ready to use.

1.9) Financial assets:

a) Initial measurement:
At initial recognition, the company measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

b)Classification and subsequent measurement:
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets of the company are classified in the 
following categories:

•Financial assets measured at amortized cost;

•Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI); and 

•Financial assets measured at fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) 



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited 45

The classification of financial assets depends on the entity’s business model for managing the finan-
cial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Management determines the classification of 
its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost:
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if both the following conditions are met:

i.	 The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows; and

ii.	 Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using 
the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any 
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR 
amortization is included in finance income in the profit or loss. The losses arising from impairment 
are recognized in the profit or loss. This category generally applies to trade and other receivables, 
bank deposits, security deposits, investment in government securities, bonds, cash and cash equiv-
alents, employee loans, etc. 

Financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income:

A financial instrument shall be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if both 
of the following conditions are met:

i.	 The objective of the business model is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows 
and selling financial assets; and

ii.	 The asset’s contractual cash flow represents SPPI. 

Financial instruments included within FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting period at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in other comprehensive income 
(OCI). Currently, the company does not have any asset classified under this category.

Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit and loss:

Fair value through profit and loss is the residual category. Any financial instrument which does not 
meet the criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income is classified at FVTPL. Financial instruments included within FVTPL category are measured 
initially as well as at each reporting period at fair value. Fair value movements are recorded in state-
ment of profit and loss.

c) Derecognition of financial assets:

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar finan-
cial assets) is primarily derecognized only when: 

i.	 The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have been transferred, or

ii.	 The company retains the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial asset 
but assumes a contractual obligation to pay the cash flows to one or more recipients.
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When the company has transferred an asset, it evaluates whether it has substantially transferred all 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset. In such cases, the financial asset is derecog-
nized. When the company has not transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of a financial asset, the financial asset is not derecognised.

When the company has neither transferred a financial asset nor retains substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the financial asset is derecognised if the entity has not 
retained control of the financial asset. When the entity retains control of the financial asset, the asset 
is continued to be recognized to the extent of continuing involvement in the asset.

d)	 Income recognition:

Interest income: Interest income from debt instruments is recognized using the effective interest rate 
method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset. 
When calculating the effective interest rate, the company estimates the expected cash flows by con-
sidering all the contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment, extension, 
call and similar options) but does not consider the expected credit losses.

1.10) Financial liability:

a) Initial recognition and measurement:
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, borrowings, payables. All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, 
in the case of borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The company’s 
financial liabilities include trade and other payables and borrowings.

b)Subsequent measurement:
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repur-
chasing in the near term. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are des-
ignated as such at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in BFRS 9 are satisfied. For 
liabilities designated as FVTPL, fair value gains/ losses attributable to changes in own credit risk 
is recognized in OCI. These gains/ losses are not subsequently transferred to P&L. However, the 
company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within equity. All other changes in fair value of 
such liability are recognized in the statement of profit or loss. The company has not designated any 
financial liability as at fair value through profit and loss.

Financial Liability at Amortized cost:

This category mainly includes borrowings, trade payables & other payables, security deposit, lease 
liabilities and debt instruments. The financial liabilities at amortized cost are recognized when the 
Company becomes a party to the contractual clauses of the instrument and are initially measured 
at fair value adjusted for directly attributable transaction costs. Financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
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Borrowings:

Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is rec-
ognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the ex-
tent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down.

In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it 
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment 
for liquidity services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates. 

The company capitalise borrowing cost that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying asset to the extent in determining amount of borrowing cost eligible for 
capitalisations by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditure on that asset.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the company has an unconditional right to de-
fer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Where there is a breach 
of a material provision of a long-term loan arrangement on or before the end of the reporting period 
with the effect that the liability becomes payable on demand on the reporting date, the entity classify 
the liability as current, if the lender does not agree not to demand payment as a consequence of the 
breach before reporting date.

Trade and other payables:

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the company prior to the 
end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities 
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognized initially 
at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

c)Derecognition:
Financial assets are derecognized whenever one of the following conditions is met: 

i.the contractual right to receive the cash flows associated with the asset expires.

ii.the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards associated with the as-
set, transferring its rights to receive the cash flows of the asset or assuming a contractual 
obligation to pay such cash flows to one or more beneficiaries under a contract that meets 
the requirements provided by BFRS 9 (the “pass through test”); 

iii.	 the Company has not transferred or retained substantially all the risks and rewards associ-
ated with the asset but has transferred control over the asset.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when they are extinguished, i.e. when the contractual obliga-
tion has been discharged, cancelled or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by 
another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the origi-
nal liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognized in statement profit or loss. 

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability 
that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other gains/
(losses).
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1.11) Inventories:
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using moving 
average price for the materials procured from third parties. Cost of inventories is recognized includ-
ing other incidental expenses incurred in acquiring inventories and bringing them to their existing 
location and condition. 

The standard cost is used for semi-finished and finished goods. The cost of finished goods and work 
in progress comprises of raw materials, direct labor, other direct costs and related production over-
heads (based on normal operating capacity). The Inventory consists of Raw Materials, Fuel, Work in 
Progress, Finished Products, Capital Spares, Asset Spares and Stores, Spares, loose tools and other 
inventories.

The company assess the inventories as Fast, Slow and Non-moving items during physical verifica-
tion. Company further reviews the inventories which has value more than Nu. 500,000/- and useful 
life more than one year as insurance/capital spares.

The company establish the following criteria to identify the inventories as fast, slow and non-mov-
ing for each category of Inventory:

i) Inventory- Spare Parts:
Under Inventory Spares we have critical/insurance and non-critical spares which are to be main-
tained as standby and servicing equipment for all time. 

a) Non-Moving: Inventories whose consumption is nil in last 5 years or more.

b) Slow Moving: Inventories whose consumption whose consumption during the last 5 year is 
less than 30% of the sum of opening stock and purchases during the last 5 years.

c) Fast Moving: All other inventories that do not fall under the above two categories shall fall 
under this category.

ii) Inventory- Consumables:
Under inventory consumables, there are items which are to be consumed within the short span of 
time i.e., 1-2 years from the date of purchase.

a) Non-Moving: Inventories whose consumption is nil in last 2 years or more.

b) Slow Moving: Inventories whose consumption whose consumption during the last 2 year is 
less than 30% of the sum of opening stock and purchases during the last 2 years.

c) Fast Moving: All other inventories that do not fall under the above two categories shall fall 
under this category.

iii) Inventory- Capital Spares/Materials:
Asset inventories are those items which are PPE in nature and shall be immediately capitalized once 
it’s put to use. 

a) Non-Moving: Those inventories which is lying more than 1 year after its purchase.

b) Fast Moving: Those inventories which are consumed/issued within a year.

The criteria, i.e., the threshold percentage of consumption for designating an inventory as Fast, Slow 
and Non-Moving shall be amended as desired by the company on time to time.
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iv)Treatment for Slow/Non-Moving: 

(i)	 Non-moving inventories classified as obsolete/unserviceable shall be auctioned off.

(ii)	 Non-moving inventories classified as incomplete shall be retrofitted and to make it com-
plete inventories or set. 

(iii)	Surplus inventories shall as per Management decision will be reviewed for further course 
of action.

(iv)	New procurement for Surplus/Non/slow moving shall be initiated only if the existing 
stock does not meet the intended purpose.

1.12) Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, bank balances and deposits, other short-term high-
ly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and that are readily convert-
ible to known amount of cash and cash equivalent and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

1.13)	 Current and deferred income tax:
	 a.)	 Current income taxes: 
	 The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the in-

come statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive 
income where tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income. Current tax assets and li-
abilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recoverable from or 
payable to the Income tax authority based on the current period’s taxable income. The tax rates 
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted on 
the reporting date by the Income Tax Authority.

	 b.) Deferred tax:
	 Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial state-
ments. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted at 
the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is 
realized, or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

	 Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

	 Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences except when 
the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects nei-
ther the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

	 The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each Balance Sheet date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

	 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
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``Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the Company intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on net basis. Management evaluates positions taken in income tax returns 
with respect to situations in which applicable income tax regulation is subject to interpretation. 

	 The income tax liabilities are recognized when, despite the Company’s belief that its income tax 
return positions are supportable, the Company believes, it is more likely than not, based on the 
technical merits, that certain positions may not be fully sustained upon review by income tax 
authorities. Benefits from tax positions are measured at the single best estimate of the most likely 
outcome.

	 At each Statement of Financial Position date, the tax positions are reviewed, and to the extent that 
new information becomes available which causes the Company to change its judgment regard-
ing the adequacy of existing income tax liabilities, such changes to income tax liabilities are duly 
recognized in income tax expense in the year in which such determination is made.

1.14) Borrowing costs:
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or produc-
tion of a major capital project, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their ex-
penditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

1.15)Financial Liability at Amortized cost:
Financial liabilities at amortized cost represented by trade and other payables, security deposits and 
retention money are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate.

1.16) Employee benefits:
Employee benefits are accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by em-
ployees of the company as detailed below: 

a. 	 Defined Contribution Plan (Pension and Provident Fund):
	 As required by National Pension & Provident Fund, both the employee and employer 

make monthly contributions to the provident fund, which is a Defined Contribution Plan, 
equal to a specified percentage of employee’s basic salary. The company has no further 
obligations under the plan beyond its monthly contributions. The company does not have 
any legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the Fund does not have 
sufficient assets to pay all of the employee’s entitlements. Obligation for contributions to 
the plan is recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss when the contribu-
tion to the Fund becomes due. 

b.	 Defined Benefit Plans (Gratuity):
	 The liability or asset recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit gratuity 

plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting pe-
riod less the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually 
by actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

	 The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated 
future cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on govern-
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ment bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.
	 The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined 

benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit ex-
pense in the statement of profit and loss.

	 Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive 
income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the 
balance sheet.

	 Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments 
or curtailments are recognized immediately in profit or loss as past service cost.

a.	 Defined Benefit Plans (Earned Leave/Carriage Charges/Transfer Grants/Repartition 
Allowances):

The liability or asset recognized in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit plans such as 
Earned Leave/Carriage Charges/Transfer Grants/Repartition Allowances at the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets. The 
defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated fu-
ture cash outflows by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government 
bonds that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined ben-
efit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit expense in 
the statement of profit and loss.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial as-
sumptions are recognized in the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive in-
come. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of changes in equity and in the bal-
ance sheet.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan amendments or 
curtailments are recognized immediately in profit or loss as past service cost.

b.	 Short Term Benefits:
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed 
as the related service is provided. All employee benefits payable wholly within twelve months of 
rendering the service are classified as short-term employee benefits and they are recognized in the 
period in which the employee renders the related service. The Company recognizes the undiscount-
ed amount of short-term employee benefits expected to be paid in exchange for services rendered as 
a liability (accrued expense) after deducting any amount already paid. 

c.	 Earned Leave Encashment:
The employees of the company are entitled for earned leave of 30 days but cannot carry forward 
earned leave balance. The employee can have the option of either availing the leave or encashing 
the earned leave within the same financial year. Out of 30 days of earned leave during the year, if 
employee avails leave during the year and has balance earned leave, the balance shall be encashed 
on pro rate basis.

1.17)	 Provisions and Contingent Liabilities:
Provisions are recognized when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a re-
sult of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; 
and the amount can be reliably estimated. 
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A contingent liability is only disclosed in the notes to the account if an outflow of resources embod-
ying economic benefits is possible.

Liabilities for reclamation and restoration costs w.r.t excavated out area are recognized based on the 
Certificate of Mining Engineer.

The amount recognized is the present value of the estimated future expenditure determined using 
existing technology at current prices and escalated using appropriate inflation rate till the expected 
date of reclamation and restoration and discounted up-to the reporting date using the appropriate 
risk-free discount rate.

 Any change in the present value of the estimated reclamation and restoration costs other than the 
unwinding of discount is adjusted to the decommissioning allowance and the carrying value of the 
provisions. The unwinding of discount on allowance is charged in the Statement of profit and loss 
as finance cost.

1.18)	 Leases:
As a lessee:
Lease where the company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease inception at the fair value of 
the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings or other financial liabilities 
as appropriate. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance 
cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to 
the company as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net 
of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease unless the payments are structured to increase in line with expected general 
inflation to compensate for the lessor’s expected inflationary cost increases. 

As a lessor:
Lease income from operating leases where the company is a lessor is recognized in income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term unless the receipts are structured to increase in line with ex-
pected general inflation to compensate for the expected inflationary cost increases. The respective 
leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature. 

1.19)	 Non–current assets held for sale:
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered princi-
pally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly 
probable. They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell, 
except for assets such as deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets 
and contractual rights under insurance contracts, which are specifically exempt from this require-
ment. 

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortized while they are classified as held for sale. In-
terest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale 
continue to be recognized. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal company classified as held 
for sale are presented separately from the other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal 
company classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in the balance sheet. 
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1.20)	 Revenue recognition:
Revenue from customers is recognized when control of the goods or services are transferred to the 
customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled 
in exchange for those goods or services, stated net of discounts, commission and taxes and royalty 
collected on behalf of government. 

Sale of goods: 
The Company recognizes revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation by transferring 
a promised good or service (i.e., an asset) to a customer and the amount of revenue can be reliably 
measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Company. An asset is 
assumed to be transferred to customer when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset. In-
cremental cost incurred by the company for obtaining as contract with customer is recognized as 
assets if the recovery of such cost is expected. Such assets are amortized on a systematic basis that is 
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods to which the asset relates.

The company discloses the reportable segment of revenue from each product OPC, PPC and PSC for 
the purposes of making decisions and about allocating resources, assessing its performance, costing 
etc.The segment reports are disclosed through the Notes.

Liquidated damages and penalties:
Liquidated damages and penalties occur when contractors/suppliers fail to meet the key perfor-
mance indicators set out in their contract with the Company. Income resulting from claims for liqui-
dated damages and penalties are recognised when it can be reliably measured and probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Company.

Interest income:
Interest income from investment is recognized at the applicable effective interest rate. When calcu-
lating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates the expected cash flows by considering all 
the contractual terms of the financial instrument but does not consider the expected credit losses.

1.21) Unpaid Cheque:
Cheques issued but not presented and appearing in the bank reconciliation should be considered as 
“stale” cheques after six months from date of cheques. All such stale cheques appearing in the bank 
reconciliation statement should be transferred to ‘Unpaid Cheques’ Account and parked for 3 years 
that if no claims are made during this period the amount will recognized as income from liabilities 
no longer required.

1.22) Unclaimed/Unpaid Liabilities: 
The company will review all outstanding liabilities or unclaimed payables in each reporting period 
and if it is established that any amount shall not payable, these amounts should be transferred to 
Unpaid and Unclaimed Liabilities Account.

If the unclaimed balances of vendors are determined that shall form no longer the liabilities of the 
company, the same shall be recognized as income from liabilities no longer required after expiry of 
3 years with exception to litigation. In case of any subsequent claims, the same shall be debited to 
Miscellaneous Expenses during the period of refund.

1.23)	 Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss for the period attributable 
to equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the 
period. The weighted average number of equity shares outstanding during the period is adjusted 
for events of bonus issue; bonus element in a rights issue to existing shareholders; share split; and 
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reverse share split (consolidation of shares).

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, the net profit or loss for the period attrib-
utable to equity shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
period, are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential equity shares.

C. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of financial statements is in conformity with BAS/BFRS that requires the use of cer-
tain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process 
of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are:
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Although the Company 
regularly assesses these estimates, actual results could differ materially from these estimates. Chang-
es in estimates are recorded in the year in which they become known. Actual results may differ from 
management’s estimates if these results differ from historical experience or other assumptions do 
not turn out to be substantially accurate, even if such assumptions were reasonable when made.

The said estimates are based on the facts and events, that existed as at the date of statement of fi-
nancial position, or that occurred after that date but provide additional evidence about conditions 
existing as at the statement of financial position date. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying values of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year are discussed below.

	 i)	 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment:
	 The costs of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their 

respective useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these assets as detailed in the 
accounting policy. Changes in the expected level of usage, technological developments, level 
of wear and tear could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, 
therefore future depreciation charges could be revised and could have an impact on the profit in 
future years. 

	
	 ii)	 Fair Value measurement of Financial Instruments:
 	 When the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the Statement of Fi-

nancial Position cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is 
measured using valuation techniques including the Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) model etc. The 
inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not 
feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. Judgments include consid-
erations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about 
these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. 

	 iii)	 Retirement benefit obligations:
	 The costs of retirement benefits and present value of the retirement benefit obligations are de-

termined using actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various number of 
critical underlying assumptions such as standard rates of inflation, mortality, discount rate, an-
ticipation of future salary increases, etc. as estimated by independent actuary appointed for this 
purpose by the Management which may differ from actual developments in the future.

	
	 iv)	 Contingent Asset/Liabilities:
	 The Company creates a provision when there is a present obligation arising as result of past event 

that probably requires an outflow of resources and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount 
of obligation at the balance sheet date and are not discounted to its present value. A disclosure for 
a contingent liability/asset is made when there is a present obligation arising as a result of past 
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event that probably will not require an outflow/inflow of resources or where a reliable estimate 
of the obligation cannot be made.

	 v)	 Provision/Loss Allowance on ECL:
	 The position of doubtful Debts is reviewed and monitored on yearly basis as expected credit Loss 

(ECL) per the ageing buckets: 0-30 days, 31-60, 61-90 days & above 90 days for the probability de-
fault, loss given default, exposure at default economic factor adjustment and the discount factor. 
The company also takes appropriate action to write off or reverse from the provision in case of 
subsequent recovery, the same is credited to impairment gain/losses.

	 vi)	 Provision for Advances/Claims/Receivables:
	 The position of doubtful recoveries is reviewed and monitored from time to time. However, the 

amounts which are doubtful of recovery after expiry of 3 years are recognized fully as Bad debts 
by creating a charge against provision for doubtful debts.

	 In the following reporting period after all the means of recovery is exhausted and reasonably 
established. The company takes appropriate action to write off or reverse from the provision. In 
case of subsequent recovery, the same is credited to Miscellaneous Income.
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DUNGSAM CEMENT CORPORATION LIMITED
NOTES FORMING PART OF STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT, 

AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2024

Balance as at 1 January 2024: 14,835,988.00
Cost
Accumulated Amortization 9,737,634.00
Book value as at 1 January 2024 5,098,354.00
 
Changes in book value during the year:
Depreciation for the year 2,138,416.00
Total Changes 2,138,416.00
 
Balances as at 31 December 2024:
Cost 17,141,525.00
Accumulated Amortization 9,737,634.00
Book value as at 31 December 2024: 7,403,891.00

3. Right to Use Asset Amount in Nu.

Balance as at 1 January 2024:
Cost 66,458,926.90
Accumulated Amortization 32,373,841.90
Book value as at 1 January 2024 34,085,085.00
 
Changes in book value during the year:
Depreciation for the year 3,322,953.00
Total Changes 3,322,953.00
 
Balances as at 31 December 2024:
Cost 66,458,926.90
Accumulated Amortization 35,696,794.90
Book value as at 31 December 2024: 30,762,132.00

4. Intangible Assets

5. Capital Work-in-progress
Balance as at 1 January 2024 171,946.26
Additions 4,972,355.97
Capitalization 171,946.26
Book value as at 31 December 2024: 4,972,355.97
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Note 6: Investments                                                                                                                   (Amount in Nu)
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Fixed Deposit with Bank (earmarked for gratuity liability) 3,972,483.48 3,972,483.48
 Accrued Interest on Fixed Deposit (earmarked for gratuity 
liability) 

428,462.27 126,553.53

 Bond Redemption Reserve Fund - 80,940,000.00
 Accrued Interest on Fixed Deposit (Bond Redemption Reserve) - 2,191,083.25
Total 4,400,945.75 87,230,120.26

Note 7(b): Trade & Other Receivables- Current
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 (Unsecured, Considered Good) 
 Trade Receivables  168,584,938.59 255,848,327.20
 Less:  provision for impairment of trade receivables (5,260,129.23) (5,260,129.23)
Total 163,324,809.36 250,588,197.97

Note 8(b): Current - Loans and Advances
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 (Unsecured, Considered Good) 
 Advance payments-Employees 1,081,255.14 1,576,498.00
 Advance to vendors 26,275,172.74 16,514,731.00
 Less provision for impairment -
 Net advances to vendors  27,356,427.88 18,091,229.00
 Advance payments to third parties - -
 Advance to Related Parties - -
Total 27,356,427.88 18,091,229.00

Note 9: Other Non-current Assets
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 (Unsecured, Considered Good) 
 Security Deposits 24,218,069.00 22,426,916.00
 Unamortized mine expenditure 25,152,484.97 27,195,194.97
Total 49,370,553.97 49,622,110.97

Note 10: Inventories 
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 (As taken, valued and certified by the management) 
 Raw Materials 53,502,291.17 34,443,689.20
 Fuel 99,232,444.85 106,252,529.93
 Work in Progress 363,454,769.86 497,318,399.91
 Finished Products 59,181,058.55 133,794,416.50
 Asset Spares 10,173,385.06 1,522,368.48
 Stores, Spares & loose tools 313,764,669.15 255,257,631.79
Total 899,308,618.64 1,028,589,035.81
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Note 11: Cash and Cash Equivalents
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Cash-in-hand  544.19 3,822.38
 Balances with Banks in Current Accounts 71,670,922.92 36,867,092.03
Total 71,671,467.11 36,870,914.41

There are no restricted cash and cash equivalents

Note 12: Prepaid Tax
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Prepaid Tax 7,223,645.65 36,731,987.54
Total 7,223,645.65 36,731,987.54

 Note 13: Other Current Asset
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Pre-paid Expenses 15,429,667.21 18,146,899.44
Total 15,429,667.21 18,146,899.44

Note 14: Asset classified as held for sale
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Property, plant & equipment 8,356,101.05 3,192,986.43
Total 8,356,101.05 3,192,986.43

Some items of property, plant and equipment has been classified as held for sale during the year. The Company has classified such 
assets at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. The fair value has been derived by using the market approach 
whereby the Company has estimated the net reliable value of such assets

Note 15: Equity share capital
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up 
 73,306,451 Equity shares @ Nu. 100 each fully paid up 7,368,264,800.00 7,330,645,000.00
Total 7,368,264,800.00 7,330,645,000.00

 Terms/Rights attached to equity shares 
The Company has only one class of Equity Shares having a par value of Nu. 100 per share. Each holder of Equity Shares is entitled 
to one vote per share. In the event of liquidation of the Company, the holders of Equity Shares will be entitled to receive remaining 
assets of the Company after distribution of all preferential amount. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of Equity 
Shares held by the shareholders.

Authorized Capital
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 80,000,000 Equity shares of Nu.100 each 8,000,000,000.00 8,000,000,000.00
 20,000,000 Preference shares of Nu.100 each 2,000,000,000.00 2,000,000,000.00
Total 10,000,000,000.00 10,000,000,000.00



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited60

Note 16: Long-Term Borrowings
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Term Loan (Secured) - Non-Current Portion 
 Ngultrum Borrowing 2,558,131,028.86 2,838,451,811.36
 Ngultrum Bonds - 920,140,000.00
Total 2,558,131,028.86 3,758,591,811.36

 Details of Security 		
A. Term loans in Ngultrum are secured by way of first mortgage on all the present and future assets of the company
B. For remaining Ngultrum borrowing and bonds corporate guarantee is given by Druk Holding and Investments Ltd.
C. See accompanying Note 41 of financial statements on details of borrowings

Note 17: Lease Liability
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Lease Liability 9,305,561.28 8,676,241.96
Total 9,305,561.28 8,676,241.96

 Note 18(b): Current - Trade and Other Payables
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Trade payable for Goods/Services & Expenses  205,129,759.72 302,079,042.71
 Amounts due to Related Parties  629,188,357.25 650,579,186.67
 Total Trade payable 834,318,116.97 952,658,229.38
 Accrued Interest  159,884,314.62 102,683,031.58
 Security Deposits  19,666,917.72 18,707,972.00
 Salary related payable to Employees  13,361,853.12 15,867,464.00
 Retention Money payable  3,116,363.06 5,773,181.02
 Current Maturities of Long-Term Borrowings - -
Total 1,030,347,565.49 1,095,689,877.98

Note 19(a): Employee Benefit Liabilities (Non-Current)
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Post employment benefit obligation  81,258,303.07 78,153,284.33
Total 81,258,303.07 78,153,284.33

Note 19(b): Employee Benefit Liabilities (Current)
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Post employment benefit obligation  8,512,103.58 7,956,920.95
 Provision for Employee Benefits 248,401.00 248,401.00
Total 8,760,504.58 8,205,321.95

Note 20: Other Long-Term Liabilities (Non-Current
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Provision for mines reclamation and restoration 2,632,096.05 2,387,155.05
Total 2,632,096.05 2,387,155.05
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Note 21: Short-Term Borrowings
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Working Capital Loan (Secured) 
 Working Capital Loan from Related Party 1,870,000,000.00 770,000,000.00
 Working Capital Loan from NPPF 10,341,277.52 10,000,000.00
 Commercial Papers - -
 Current Maturities of Long-Term Borrowings 279,779,531.38 203,821,108.61
Total 2,160,120,808.90 983,821,108.61

See accompanying Note 41 of financial statements on details of borrowings

 Note 22: Other Current Liabilities
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Advances received from Customers & Others 15,636,757.40 12,643,682.99
 Other Accounts payable - current 312,106.13 14,709,275.55
 Unpaid Cheque 6,060.40 6,060.40
 BST payable 4,746,915.19 7,483,909.41
 TDS Payable  236,544.25 -
 Other Provision - 115,500.00
Total 20,938,383.37 34,958,428.35

Note 23(a): Revenue from Sale of Cement
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Revenue from Sale of Cement 2,364,641,814.99 2,919,396,307.51
 less: Discount/Rebate  (1,804,885.23) (613,450.00)
 Less: Commission (52,720,178.00) (56,287,853.00)
 Revenue from Sale of Cement 2,310,116,751.76 2,862,495,004.51

Note 23(b): Revenue from Sale of Clinker
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Revenue from Sale of Clinker 240,241,070.00 8,109,104.00
 Total 240,241,070.00 8,109,104.00

Note 24: Other Revenue
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Rental Income  6,122,850.71 6,128,005.96
 Liquidated Damages & Penalties  21,207,333.56 10,093,173.53
 Income From Sale of Scraps  4,130,497.73 6,665,382.00
 Miscellaneous Income  5,488,068.11 5,201,022.04
 Income from sale of quartzite  785,084.84 660,216.60
 Price Difference-Material  0.84 0.60
 Interest Income  5,957,544.20 2,915,017.38
 Guest House Income  48,200.00 47,652.44
 Gain on Foreign Currency fluctuation  -   151,937.50
 Total  43,739,579.99 31,862,408.05
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 Note 25: Consumption & Consumables of raw materials & related expenses
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Consumption- Raw Materials 292,476,508.14 403,143,147.70
 Consumption- Consumables 24,264,009.25 13,487,447.82
 Mining related expenses 165,937,295.80 153,982,203.77
 Total 482,677,813.19 570,612,799.29

Note 26: Changes in inventory of work in progress and finished goods
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Consumption-Semi Finished Products 4,085,422,763.92 4,145,613,968.56
 Cost of goods manufactured - Semi Finished 
Good 

(4,505,405,908.98) (4,863,680,659.93)

 Cost of goods manufactured-Finished Goods (1,851,221,123.36) (2,132,537,265.68)
 Cost of goods sold - Semi Finished Good 224,184,016.60 5,718,075.81
 Cost of goods sold - Finished Good 1,833,661,464.34 1,931,389,737.54
 Price Difference  227,603,965.31 374,085,519.31
 Total 14,245,177.83 (539,410,624.39)

 Note 27: Power & fuel expenses
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Electricity Charges - plant  238,728,510.31 235,573,796.15
 Consumption- Fuel  709,804,904.08 998,146,346.36
 Total  948,533,414.39 1,233,720,142.51

 Note 28: Employee benefit expenses
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Salary & Allowances 210,707,732.26 178,185,072.15
 Leave Travel Concession 6,867,730.28 6,810,624.73
 Repatriation Allowance 2,146,995.00 1,670,572.00
 Transfer Grant 2,146,995.00 1,669,392.00
 GPA Insurance 665,163.01 562,760.75
 Subsidy to Dungsam Sport Club 222,700.00 -
 Wages 4,583,350.00 3,640,979.00
 Short-term training 2,009,679.38 835,232.00
 Leave encashment 6,572,257.07 8,080,616.71
 Provident Fund -Matching Contribution 16,560,699.95 15,023,510.98
 Gratuity 13,036,541.99 11,455,487.00
 Carriage Charge of personal effects 867,221.99 633,542.00
 Employee Related Expenses & Welfare Expenses 1,217,446.71 1,467,375.00
 Total 267,604,512.64 230,035,164.32
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Note 29: Depreciation & amortization
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Depreciation 347,212,205.85 303,180,916.00
 Amortization 3,322,953.00 3,322,839.00
 Total 350,535,158.85 306,503,755.00

Note 30: Selling & Marketing Expenses
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Marketing & Sales Promotion Expenses 1,189,926.08 1,653,287.91
 Consumption of Packing Materials 122,519,644.16 142,017,055.88
 Handling Charges-Cement & Depo Rent 9,331,986.55 6,799,565.85
 Freight Outward-Cement 52,708,045.18 188,556,003.86
 Bad Debts 322,425.60 15,234.77
 Total 186,072,027.57 339,041,148.27

Note 31: Operation & Maintenance Expenses
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Consumption-Spare Parts 121,728,142.17 139,024,698.86
 Operation & maintenance-Direct 173,914,905.59 195,070,660.81
 Operation& maintenance-Indirect 26,758,397.44 19,563,284.10
 Total 322,401,445.20 353,658,643.77

Note 32: General Admins & Other expenses
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 P&M- Insurance 9,928,578.00 10,235,261.41
 Material handling 24,737,568.92 26,019,485.27
 Brand Management Fee  5,831,420.15 5,633,078.18
 Retirement/Scrapping of Inventories 26,267,277.55 (61,935.73)
 Retirement/Scrapping of Assets 104,160,653.82 56,736,947.16
 Fees & subscriptions 7,414,802.97 11,317,395.45
 Travelling expenses 4,347,467.20 4,022,315.50
 Administration expenses 25,366,962.47 9,341,626.37
 Bank Charges 599,500.10
 Total 208,654,231.18 123,244,173.61

Note 33: Finance cost
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Interest on borrowings 108,609,609.61 149,668,983.29
 Coupon on Bonds 60,922,622.93 85,014,000.00
 Interest on loans from BoBL 125,926,651.68 79,788,034.74
 Bank charges - others - 21,572.79
 Bank charges and fees paid to BoBL - 271,965.71
 Other borrowing cost 462,712.44 3,445,805.86
 Interest on Working Capital 63,633,756.42 29,957,101.56
 Interest/Unwinding Cost 3,676,054.18 2,930,808.80
 Total 363,231,407.26 351,098,272.75

See accompanying Note 42 of financial statements on details of Interest Cost on borrowings
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 Note 35: Earnings per share
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

 Profit/(Loss) after tax  (349,125,654.08) (66,036,958.42)
 Other comprehensive income for the year  6,200,572.51 (255,013,044.37)
 Profit/(Loss) used to determine basic earnings per share (342,925,081.57) (321,050,002.79)
 Numbers of shares at the beginning of the year  73,306,450.00 73,306,450.00
 Number of shares allotted  2,535,957.13 -
 Number of shares at the end of the year  75,842,407.13 73,306,450.00
 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  75,842,407.13 73,306,450.00
 Basic and Diluted Earnings per share (4.57) (0.90)

Note 34: Deferred tax liability/ (asset)
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Property, plant and equipment 1,431,897,276 1,488,597,784
Total deferred tax liability 1,431,897,276 1,488,597,784
 
Property, plant and equipment (59,413,387) (35,956,644)
Unused tax loss (refer note (i) below) (141,318,745) (20,743,864)
Total deferred tax asset (200,732,132) (56,700,509)
Net deferred tax liability 1,231,165,143 1,431,897,276

(i) In assessing the reliability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers the extent to which, 
it is probable that the deferred tax asset will be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax 
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable profits during the periods in which those 
temporary differences and tax loss carry-forwards become deductible. The Company considers 
the expected reversal of deferred tax liabilities and projected future taxable income in making this 
assessment.

As the Company has a history of tax losses, the Company has recognized a deferred tax asset only to 
the extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary differences or there is convincing other evidence 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

(b) Tax expense
 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Deferred tax:
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets 200,732,132 (229,329,782)
(Decrease)/increase in deferred tax liabilities - -
Total deferred tax expenses 200,732,132 (229,329,782)
Income tax expenses 200,732,132 (229,329,782)
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(c) Numerical reconciliation between tax expense (income) and the product of accounting profit 
multiplied by the tax rate

 Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023
Tax expenses
- Current tax - -
- Deferred tax 200,732,132 (229,329,782)
Total tax expense 200,732,132 (229,329,782)
Profit before tax  (549,857,786) (65,142,953)
Income tax expense/(income) calculated at 30%  (164,957,336) (19,542,886)

Impact of expenses (net) disallowed under tax laws for 
which no deferred tax has been recognized

(22,836,720) (38,836,956)

Impact of deferred tax asset being recognized for tax losses 
of earlier years

- -

Impact of reversal of deferred tax asset recognized in earlier 
year as the same has lapsed

41,553,435 210,736,790

Other differences  346,972,753 (381,686,730)
Reconciled with tax expense as above  200,732,132 (229,329,782)

(d) Tax losses
Particulars 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 Expiry date

Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognized

- for the year 2022 0 31-Dec-25
- for the year 2023 0 31-Dec-26
- for the year 2024 0 31-Dec-27

Potential tax benefit @ 30% 0
Note: The tax losses can be carried forward till 3 years.

36.	Operating Profit/(Loss):
In the financial year (FY) 2024, the company reported an operating loss (before depreciation and tax) 
of Nu.(199,322,628) compared to an operating profit of Nu. 240,466,796 in FY 2023. This decline was 
primarily due to the collapse of the cement silo on October 22, 2024, which resulted in an estimated 
revenue loss of Nu. 450,052,736 and additional expenses of Nu. 109,953,826. Although the company 
has incurred losses during the year, however, it’s expected to turn around, and confident of its abil-
ity to continue as a going concern. The company has EBITDA of Nu.    163,908,780 in FY 2024. 

37.	Presentation of Deferred Tax Income/(Expenses) 
In 2023, Deferred Tax Income/(Expenses) was reported under Other Comprehensive Income/
(Loss). However, in 2024, Deferred Income Tax Income/(Expenses) is reported under the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

38.	 Financial Instrument:
The Company adopted the new standard in FY 2022 (effective from January 01, 2019) using the mod-
ified-retrospective approach issued by AASBB on BFRS-9: Financial Instruments – Expected Credit 
Losses especially for trade receivables which modifies the measurement of expected credit losses. 
Upon adoption, there was no impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements as the loss 
allowances was recognized more in prior year than the computed ECL in FY 2024.
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Particular
31/12/2024 31/12/2023

RemarksComputed 
ECL

Provision 
Created

Computed 
ECL

Provision 
Created

Loss Allowances   3,359,603 5,260,129 5,101,300 5,260,129 No Impact 
In SFP

39. Lease
The total Lease liabilities (of Depot Phuentsholing and DHI Land) of Nu.  9,305,561 only were 
computed in the year 2024.

i. Depot Phuentsholing:
The Company has lease area of 31,057 sq. Ft. (Plot No. PGT 138) including office building, warehouse 
in Phuentsholing for cement stocking and supply in the western market. The lease was initially 
taken on august 1, 2019 from the owner Mr. Karma Gyeltshen.
The current monthly rent is Nu.190,545.00-/- only and it is valid until 01/08/2025. As per the new 
standards BFRS-16, the amount is computed and recognized under Right to Use of Assets and been 
presented under Note-3 and similarly the Lease Liabilities is disclosed under Note-17 of SFP as 
outlined under:

Particulars 31-12-24 31-12-23
Lease Liability 1,244,701.22 3,295,302

ii. DHI Land:
The ownership of land was taken by DHI and the Lease agreement is made and entered into 
11/05/2021, effective from 17/02/2021 for initial term of 30 years measuring the land area of 188.59 
acre expiring the lease agreement on 18/02/2051. The yearly lease payout is Nu.410,747/- till 2023 
and lease payment was increase to Nu. 616,120 from 2023.As per the new standards BFRS-16, the 
amount computed and recognized under Right to Use of Asset and been presented under PPE 
(Note 3) and similarly the Lease Liabilities is disclosed under Note: 17 of SFP as outlined under:

Particulars 31-12-24 31-12-23
 Lease Liability 8,060,860 5,380,940

40. Bond:
Bond Series I of Nu, 220,140,000, and Bond Series II of Nu. 700,000,000 million was redeemed on 
April 26,2024 and November 6, 2024 respectively. 
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42. Benefit of Interest Waiver:
During the FY 2024, DHI has also provided 100% guarantee fee waiver on Bond I, Bond II and term 
loan. The total financial benefits on account of waiver to company is Nu.10,877,013.

43. Contingent Assets:
The contingent assets are not provided to the following pending civil suit:

i. DCCL Vs GSA C/o Kuenga Tenzin (Nu. 52,14966/-)
The issue was first started in the year 2017 regarding the credit sales facilitated to M/s Gakhyil 
Supply Agency even after TPA agreement. After his failure to clear the debt amounting to Nu. 
5,214,966/- only (including Nu. 450,000/- only receivables against VI-U Anagami) as of 30/06/2017 
the issue was registered to Royal Court of Justice, Nganglam Dungkhag on 19/04/2018. 

After 5 months of rigorous case hearing the Hon’ble Court delivered its judgment on 27/09/2018 
wherein it stated Mr. Kuenga Tenzin, C/o Ms. GSA to clear the debt balance in 5 months’ time after 
the passing of the judgment by Dungkhag Court.

However, Mr. Kuenga Tenzin appealed to Pemagatshel Dzongkhag Court regarding the issue and 
the first hearing was conducted on 22/04/2019. In after 6 months’ time of submitting rebuttals to the 
Hon’ble Court, the Dzongkhag Court held its judgment on 16/10/2019 stating Mr. Kuenga Tenzin 
to clear the debt balance of Nu. 5,214,966/- only as on 31/12/2019.

Against the Judgment passed by the Pemagathsel Dzongkhag Court Mr. Kuenga Tenzin appealed 
to High Court of Bhutan on 05/12/2019. The closing hearing was held on 23/01/2020 by the High 
Court of Bhutan, and judgment was passed on 13/11/2020 wherein it stated Mr. Kuenga Tenzin 
C/o M/s. GSA to clear the debt balance in 4 months’ time after the passing of the judgment by High 
Court, Bench II.

After judgment delivered from the High Court Bench II, Mr. Kuenga Tenzin appealed to High Court 
Larger Bench on 27/08/2021. With the following due process of law, Hon’ble Court held the closing 
hearing on 02/09/2021.Without any changes with the judgment, the Hon’ble High Court, Larger 
Bench delivered its judgment on 25/11/2021. However, Mr. Kuenga Tenzin appeal to Supreme 
Court and proceeding is underway.

The Honourable Supreme Court (SC) upheld the verdict of the High Court’s Larger Bench, dismissing 
the appeal and rendering its judgment on February 17, 2023, in favor of DCCL. In its ruling, Supreme 
Court ordered the debt to be settled within six months from the date of the judgment. The case is still 
at the enforcement court, Nganglam Dungkhag. 

ii. DCCL Vs M/s SamphelDoejung Transport (Nu. 854,519)
The first hearing has started in the year 23/08/2019 with the issue facilitated to shortage of cement. 
Since court has delivered the judgment accordingly with the procedure, the defendant Tenzin 
Wangda has ordered to pay only within 6 months. With the judgment rendered from Nganglam 
Dungkhag Court in 11/06/2021, the defendant has not satisfied with the judgment and he appealed to 
Pemagatshel Dzongkhag Court. The District Court of Pemagatshel issued its judgment on December 
5, 2022, upholding the decision of the Dungkahag Court in favour of DCCL. Subsequently, the firm 
filed an appeal with the High Court, which affirmed the District Court’s decision. Despite this, 
the firm pursued the case to the Supreme Court, which, on June 6, 2023, upheld the High Court’s 
judgment, requiring the settlement of the amount within six months. However, M/s. Samphel 
Doejung Transport has submitted a petition to the HM Secretariat. We have been advised to await a 
response from the HM Secretariat. 
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iii. DCCL Vs M/s Phuntsho Puensum Wholesaler (Nu. 379,576)
The first hearing began on May 28, 2024, addressing issues related to the recovery of the credit 
amount for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on December 5, 
2024, ordering Mr. Sherab to pay the outstanding credit debt within two months from the date of the 
judgment. The restitution date is set for February 4, 2025.

iv.DCCL Vs M/s Hingsel Cement Agent (Nu. 100,094)
The first hearing began on May 29, 2024, to address issues regarding the recovery of the credit 
amount for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on August 7, 2024, 
ordering Mr. Namgay to pay the outstanding credit debt within three months from the date of the 
judgment. The restitution date was set for November 7, 2024. However, a balance of Nu. 20,094.10 
from the total dues was still pending. 

v.  DCCL Vs. M/s Dawa Cement Agent (Nu. 620,906)
The first hearing began on May 28, 2024, to address issues concerning the recovery of the credit amount 
for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on August 2, 2024, ordering 
Mr. Chorten Phuntsho to pay the outstanding credit debt within five months from the date of the 
judgment. The restitution date was set for January 1, 2025. However, the defendant has not made any 
payments toward the mentioned dues, and vigorous follow-up efforts with the agent are still ongoing.

vi. DCCL Vs M/s Daga Dragon Cement Agent (Nu. 61,984)
The first hearing began on May 28, 2024, to address issues concerning the recovery of the credit 
amount for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on July 31, 2024, 
ordering Mr. Tapas Blon to pay the outstanding credit debt by August 30, 2024. However, a balance 
of Nu. 40,001 remains pending from the total dues.

vii. DCCL Vs M/s SherubChoden Cement Agent (Nu. 627,553)
The first hearing began on May 28, 2024, to address issues regarding the recovery of the credit 
amount for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on July 31, 2024, 
ordering Mr. Sonam Wangchuk to pay the outstanding credit debt within five months from the date 
of the judgment. The restitution date was set for December 30, 2024. While a payment of Nu. 200,000 
has been made, a balance of Nu. 427,553 remains pending. Efforts to recover the full amount from 
the agent are ongoing.

viii. DCCL Vs M/s Sonam Cement Distributor (Nu. 599,715)
The first hearing began on May 28, 2024, to address issues concerning the recovery of the credit amount 
for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on August 7, 2024, ordering 
Mr. Namgay Wangchuk to pay the outstanding credit debt within five months from the date of the 
judgment. The restitution date was set for January 7, 2025. However, the defendant has not made any 
payments toward the mentioned dues, and vigorous follow-up efforts with the agent are still ongoing.

ix. DCCL Vs M/s Tsunta Cement Agent (Nu. 1,144,106)
The first hearing began on May 28, 2024, addressing issues related to the recovery of the credit 
amount for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on August 2, 2024, 
ordering Mr. Tashi Norbu to pay the outstanding credit debt within six months from the date of the 
judgment. The restitution date is set for February 2, 2025.

x.DCCL Vs M/s Hindustan Construction Co. Ltd (Nu. 19,909,787)
The first hearing began on May 28, 2024, to address issues regarding the recovery of the credit 
amount for cement. According to the Dungkhag Court, a judgment was delivered on July 31, 2024, 
ordering Mr. Sangay Hendra to pay the outstanding credit debt in two instalments: one on January 
1, 2025, and the second on July 31, 2025. While a payment of Nu. 6,000,000 has been made, a balance 
of Nu. 13,909,786 remains to be recovered by the company.
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44. In the opinion of the Board current assets, loans & advances shall have a value on realization in 
the ordinary course of business at least equal to the amount at which they are stated in the Statement 
of Financial Position, unless otherwise stated and adequate provisions for all known liabilities have 
been made. 

45. Employee Benefits:
Provision for all defined employee benefits such as gratuity, transfer grant, repatriation allowance 
& carriage charges, has been made based on actuarial valuation of their liabilities carried out by an 
independent valuer namely, M/s Bhutan Actuarial & Risk Consultant
as required by BAS-19 on “Employee Benefit

i. Expense recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Particulars
Gratuity Transfer Grant Repatriation 

Allowance Carriage Charge

31/12/24 31/12/23 31/12/24 31/12/23 31/12/24 31/12/23 31/12/24 31/12/23

Current service cost 7,790,816 7,966,652 1,567,911 1,503,150 1,567,911 1,503,150 715,780 584,282
Past service cost         
Net Interest income 
/ (cost) on the net 
defined benefit liability 
(asset)

5,245,726 3,488,835 579,084 166,242 579,084 167,422 151,442 49,260

Expenses recognized 
in the statement of 
profit or loss

13,036,542 11,455,487 2,146,995 1,669,392 2,146,995 1,670,572 867,222 633,542

ii. Amount recognized as Other Comprehensive Income:
Particulars Gratuity Transfer Grant Repatriation Allowance Carriage Charge

31/12/24 31/12/23 31/12/24 31/12/23 31/12/24 31/12/23 31/12/24 31/12/23
Actuarial (gains)/
losses due to lia-
bility experience

(2,212,345) 16,415,408 (1,654,637) 4,195,843 (1,654,637) 4,165,165 (678,953) 906,846

Remeasurement 
(gains)/losses rec-
ognized in OCI

(2,212,345) 16,415,408 (1,654,637) 4,195,843 (1,654,637) 4,165,165 (678,953) 906,846 
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v. Risk exposure:
Valuations are performed on certain basic set of pre-determined assumptions and other regulatory 
framework which may vary over time. Thus, the Company is exposed to various risks in providing 
the above gratuity benefit which are as follows:

Interest rate risk:
The plan is exposed to the risk of fall in interest rates. A fall in interest rates will result in an increase 
in the ultimate cost of providing the above benefit and will thus result in an increase in the value of 
the liability (as shown in financial statements).

Liquidity risk:
This is the risk that the plan is not able to meet the short-term gratuity payouts. This may arise due to 
non-availability of enough cash / cash equivalent to meet the liabilities or holding of illiquid assets.

Salary escalation risk:
The present value of the defined benefit plan is calculated with the assumption of salary increase of 
plan participants in future. Deviation in the rate of increase of salary in future for plan participants 
from the rate of increase in salary used to determine the present value of obligation will have a 
bearing on the plan’s liability.

Demographic risk: 
The Company has used certain mortality and attrition assumptions in valuation of the liability. 
Thus, the plan is exposed to the risk of actual experience turning out to be worse compared to the 
assumption. 

Asset liability mismatching or market risk:
The duration of the liability is longer than the duration of assets, exposing the Company to market 
risk for volatilities/fall in interest rate.

Investment risk: 
The plan is exposed to the probability or likelihood of occurrence of losses relative to the expected 
return on any particular investment.

46. Related Party Disclosures:
The Company is a subsidiary of Druk Holding & Investments (DHI) (a Royal Government of Bhutan 
undertaking). The company considers for the purpose of disclosure required under BAS-24, the 
related parties are mainly parties that are under same holding companies in a position of control 
over directly or indirectly, in which the holding company has a significant influence to exercise. 
The related parties also include the board of directors and key management personnel. The key 
management personnel comprise management personnel who have the power and direct or indirect 
responsibility for the planning, management, and control of the company’s activities.

The fellow subsidiaries are shown below:
i.	 Druk Holdings & Investments Limited

ii.	 Bank of Bhutan Limited

iii.	 Bhutan Telecom Limited

iv.	 Bhutan Power Corporation Limited

v.	 Construction Development Corporation Limited

vi.	 Druk Green Power Corporation Limited

vii.	 Dungsam Polymers Limited



ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Dungsam Cement Corporation Limited 73

viii.	 Dagachhu Hydro Power Corporation

ix.	 Penden Cement Authority Limited

x.	 State Mining Corporation Limited

xi.	  State Trading Corporation of Bhutan Limited

xii.	 Thimphu Tech Park Limited

The related parties’ transactions entered with fellow subsidiaries mainly involves the provision of 
services, the sourcing of financial resources, utilities services and administrative activities. All these 
transactions are part of routine operations.  The transactions are carried out in the interest of the 
company and are settled on an arm’s length basis, i.e., on the same market terms as similar to the 
agreements entered into between two independent parties. 

The following tables summarize commercial, financial and other relationships between the Company 
and related parties:

i. The nature of transaction with fellow subsidiaries are shown below:
Nature of Transaction 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Bank of Bhutan Limited:   
Interest, Coupon & bank charges 134,714,002 90,439,880
Interest income for Bond redemption reserve 185,404 475,650
Balances with BoBL 29,207,048 26,940,919
Purchase of Services 744,870 492,539
Bhutan Power Corporation Ltd.:
Electricity charges 238,728,510 236,335,647
Security deposits paid NonCurrent 3,389,180 3,224,160
Bhutan Telecom Limited:
Telephone and internet charges 3,742,138 3,699,006
Interest on borrowing - 99,726
Druk Holdings & Investments Limited:
Guarantee fee 264,812 3,315,506
Equity Shares held by DHI 6,480,465,000 6,480,465,000
Rental Expenses paid to DHI Group Companies 821,493 410,747
Interest on borrowings-Intergroup 13,402,186 135,616
Inter group Brand management Fees 5,831,420 5,737,000
Dungsam Polymers Limited:
Purchase of PP bag 120,345,100 236,335,647
Other Miscellaneous Income - 14,040
State Trading Corporation of Bhutan Limited
Spares & consumables - 962,872
Purchase of office equipment 141,775 -
Running & Maintenance of Vehicle 288,592 -
Purchase of vehicle 1,259,067 2,941,872
Druk Green Power Corporation Limited:
Interest on borrowing 3,695,355 1,210,959
Spares & service charge 194,014 308,396
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State Mining Corporation Limited:
Purchase of Coal 434,228,759 690,231,627
Purchase of Gypsum 31,229,016 50,209,228
Inter Group Miscellaneous Income 777,898 57,914
Sales of cement 680,610 1,685,264
Interest on borrowing 8,331,148 -
Construction Development Corporation Ltd.:   
Sales of cement 70,748,487 64,408,624
Thimphu Tech Park Limited:
Fees and Subscriptions 2,184,233 1,866,447
Dagachhu Hydro Power Corporation Ltd.:
Interest 2,182,104 7,458,356
Penden Cement PVt Ltd.:
Sales of Clinker 204,352 -

ii. The borrowing balances with related parties as of 31/12/2024:

Lender Closing Loan Balance as on 
31/12/2024

Closing Loan Balance as 
on 31/12/2023

Term Loan: 1,498,129,050 1,643,445,919
BOB TL Nu. 600M 460,635,341 508,168,561
BOB TL Nu. 610M 419,241,515 472,452,442
BOB TL Nu. 670M 618,252,193 662,824,916
Short Term Loan: 1,870,000,000 770,000,000
DHPC ICL 110,000,000 100,000,000
DHI ICL 730,000,000 330,000,000
DGPC340M (ICL) 700,000,000 340,000,000
SMCL ICL 330,000,000 -

iii. The balances with related parties as on 31/12/2024:

Related Party Nature of 
Transactions

Outstanding 
balance as on 31 

Dec 2024

Outstanding 
balance as on 31 

Dec 2023
Druk Holdings and Investments Limited Payable 9,123,165 7,61,994
Bank of Bhutan Limited (Accrued Interest) Payable 2,698,165 30,49,583
Bhutan Telecom Limited Payable 323,509 3,05,493
Bhutan Power Corporation Limited Payable 19,132,996 2,42,92,088
State Trading Corporation Limited Payable 28,652 -
Dungsam Polymers Limited Payable 30,489,100 3,23,77,500
Druk Green Power Corporation Limited Payable 3,368,995 22,000
State Mining Corporation Limited Payable 586,005,768 59,26,08,178.
Thimphu Tech Park Limited Payable - 2,36,579
Construction Development Corporation 
Limited Receivable 16,692,138 50,086,904

Penden Cement Authority Ltd. Receivable 34,888 34,888
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iv. Corporate Guarantee is given by the Holding Company - Druk Holding and Investments Ltd. for 
the followings:

1.	 Bond I:    Nu.220,140,000/- only.

2.	 Bond II:   Nu.700,000,000/- only.

3.	 Working Capital Loan: Nu. 150,000,000/- only.

4.	 BOBL Term Loan:    Nu. 670,000,000/- only.

5.	 BOBL Term Loan:    Nu. 610,000,000/- only.

6.	 BOBL Term Loan:    Nu. 600,000,000/- only.

7.	 NPPF	  Term Loan:    Nu. 1,560,000,000/- only.

v. Key Managerial Personnel (KMP):
The key managerial personnel are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the company directly or indirectly including any director whether 
executive or otherwise. The key management personnel of the company for the purpose of disclosure 
of compensation include the as required by the Companies Act of Bhutan, 2016.

The Key managerial personnel with whom transactions have taken place during the year:

1. Dasho Karma YezerRaydi, Chairman

2. Mr. Ugyen Namgyal, Chairman

3. Mr. Dorji Nima, Board Director

4. Mrs. Dechen Yangden, Board Director

5. Mrs. Karma Yangzom, Board Director

6. Mr. Sonam Tobgye, Board Director

7. Mr. Tashi Dawa, Board Director

8. Mr. Dechen Choling, CEO

The summary of compensation paid to CEO:
Particular FY 2024 FY 2023

Basic Salary and Allowances 2,730,564 2,133,024
Communication Facility Allowance 23,580 30,009
Contribution to provident fund 172,464 165,042
Sitting fees 76,000 48,000
Travel Expense 133,575 93,048
Total 3,136,183 2,469,123
Other Benefit:
i) Housing A-type building Free of Rent Free of Rent
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The sitting fees paid to the Board of Directors and Board’s Member Secretary in FY 2024:
Sl.
 No Name of Directors & Members 2024 Remarks

1 Dasho Karma YezerRaydi, Chairman     24,000.00 Resigned on March 11, 2024
2 Mr. Ugyen Namgyal, Chairman     40,000.00 Appointed on March 11, 2024
3 Mr. Tashi Penjore, Board Director     16,000.00 Resigned on March 11, 2024
4 Mr. Dorji Nima, Board Director     96,000.00  
5 Mrs. Dechen Yangden, Board Director     52,000.00  
6 Mr. Sonam Tobgye, Board Director       8,000.00 Appointed on March 11, 2024
7 Mrs. Karma Yangzom Tshering, Board Director     76,000.00  
8 Mr. Tashi Dawa, Board Director     32,000.00 Appointed on March 11, 2024
9 Mr. Dechen Choling, CEO     76,000.00  
10 Mr. Sonam Darjee, Company Secretary     32,000.00  
11 Mr. Doten Wangdi, Member Secretary BAC     10,000.00  
  Total   462,000.00  

vi. Terms and conditions of the transactions:
1. As the liabilities for gratuity are provided on actuarial basis for the Company as a whole, the 

amounts pertaining to KMP esp. the Board Directors are not ascertainable separately and 
were not included above.

2. All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

47. During the year the Company has assessed the carrying amount of the asset’s visa-vis their 
recoverable values and no impairment is envisaged at the reporting date of Statement of Financial 
Position.

48. An inventory refers to spare parts, raw materials, consumables, fuel, work in progress and 
finished goods readily available for sale. Tabulated below shows the valuation of our finished goods:

Material FY 2024 FY 2023
Closing Stock (MT) Closing Value (Nu.) Closing Stock (MT) Closing Value (Nu.)

OPC 43 4,570 21,107,304 14,073 68,013,069
PPC  9,065 38,073,515.19 15,563 65,781,109
PSC 0.05 239 0.05 239
Total 13,635.123 59,181,058.55 29,636 133,794,417

49. Certain balance of advances to Vendors and others, Trade Receivables, Sundry Creditors, Intra 
Group Company Balances, Advances received from Customers & others and other Current Liabilities 
are subject to confirmation/reconciliation and consequential adjustment if any, required.

50. The Company operates only in cement and for internal reporting purposes they consider the 
entire business as one segment only i.e., cement, and performance is reviewed accordingly. Hence 
the company has only single segment i.e., cement. The management considers the business from 
a geographic and product perspective. From geographic perspective management considers the 
performance in Bhutan (the domicile of the company) and India. From the product perspective 
management considers the revenue generated from the various types of cement viz. PPC, PSC & 
OPC. These products are not considered for segment reporting being of similar nature, production 
processes, customers, and distribution channels.
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i. Entity- wide information:
The revenue and sales by country, based on the destination of customers for cement:

FY 2024 FY 2023
Quantity (MT) Value (Nu.) Quantity (MT) Value (Nu.)

Bhutan 206,251 1,301,413,531               322,005 2,109,592,767.51
India 206,409 1,063,263,690               157,025 809,796,040.00
Total 412,659 2,364,677,221               479,030 2,919,396,308

ii. Auditors’ remuneration:
Particulars FY 2024(Nu) FY 2023(Nu)

Audit fees 121,275.00 115,500.00
Other audit expenses 203,208.00 295,581.00
Total 324,483.00 411,081.00

51. Operating Lease:
DCCL has two captive Mines to extract Limestone and Phyllite to be used as raw materials for the 
production of Clinker. The Lease agreement was drawn between DCCL and the Department of Ge-
ology and Mines (DGM) dated 29/06/2010 for the initial period of 25 years from the date of signing 
whereby DCCL leased the Kangrezi area covering 120.83 hectors (298.57 Acres) and Marung Ri area 
covering of 152.78 hectors (377.52 acres).

DCCL has to pay the surface rent @ Nu.640/- only per acre per annum unless revised by the Royal 
Government and also have to pay the mineral and royalty rent per unit measures of limestone dis-
patched @ Nu. 8.5/- only and Nu. 34/- only respectively for both the mines.

52. Capital Advance and Capital Payables:
Management does not recognize the advances and payables as capital advances and capital paya-
bles. However, management recognizes and treats spare parts as inventory and expenses them as 
and when consumed. Major spare parts and stand-by equipment that qualify as PPE are capitalized 
as Capital Spares. 

53. Fair Value Measurement:
The company measures fair value per BFRS-13. The fair value is defined as the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability. The best estimate is the market price, i.e., 
its current price, publicly available and effectively traded on an active, liquid market whenever 
required by the BFRS.

Financial Instruments by category:

Particulars
31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23

Amortized cost Amortized cost
Total Financial assets:   
i) Security deposits               24,218,069               22,426,916 
ii) Cash and cash equivalents               71,671,467               36,870,914 
iii) Investments                 4,400,946               87,230,120 
iv) Trade and other receivables            163,324,809            250,588,198 
 
Total Financial liabilities:   
i) Borrowings         4,718,251,838         4,742,412,920 
ii)Trade payable and other payables         1,027,494,497         1,095,689,878 
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i.  Fair value hierarchy:
The fair value of assets and liabilities is categorized into a fair value hierarchy that provides three 
levels defined as follows on the basis of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair 
value:

Level 1: 
Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities to which the Company 
has access at the measurement date.

Level 2: 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using 
valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible 
on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observ-
able, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: 
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 
inputs). This is the case for unlisted equity securities included in level 3.

ii.Valuation technique used to determine fair value:
This section explains the judgments and estimates made in determining the fair values of the finan-
cial instruments that are

a) 	 Recognized and measured at fair value and

b) 	 Measured at amortized cost and for which fair values are disclosed in the financial state-
ments. 

To indicate the reliability of the inputs used in determining fair value, the Company has classified 
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under the BAS.

The carrying amounts of loans and advances, trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 
and trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-
term nature.

The fair values for financial instruments such as borrowings, retention money and security deposits 
were calculated based on cash flows discounted using current borrowing rate. They are classified as 
level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs including 
counter-party credit risk 

iii. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value:
The following table shows, for each class of assets measured at fair value measurement at the end of 
the reporting period and the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements 
are categorized.
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Particulars
31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23

Carrying 
amount Fair value Carrying 

amount Fair value

Total Financial assets: 28,619,015 15,363,583 109,657,036 94,083,810
i) Security deposits 24,218,069 11,140,566 22,426,916 11,140,566
ii)Investments 4,400,946 4,223,018 87,230,120 82,943,244
     
Total Financial liabilities: 2,837,910,560 2,453,743,583 3,962,412,920 3,337,936,251
i) Borrowings 2,837,910,560 2,453,743,583 3,042,272,920 2,598,829,421
ii)Bonds   920,140,000 739,106,829

The fair values for financial instruments were calculated based on cash flows discounted using the 
current borrowing rate. The carrying amounts of remaining financial assets and liabilities are con-
sidered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature.

iv. Fair Valuation of Land
In the year 2018 May 8, the 30 decimal land was capitalized at the initial purchase cost at Nu. 12,000,000. 
It was revalued at Nu. 390,921 based on the government compensation rate of Nu.13,030.69 per deci-
mal. The difference of Nu.809,079.30 was presented under a loss on revaluation of land under Other 
Comprehensive Income in 2023. No fair valuation was done in 2024. 

54. Capital management:

i. Risk management
The Company is a subsidiary of Druk Holding & Investments Limited (DHI). The amount men-
tioned under total equity in the balance sheet is considered Capital. The company’s objectives when 
managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue 
to provide returns for the shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The capital structure of the Company is based on man-
agement’s judgment of the appropriate balance of key elements to meet strategic and day-to-day 
needs. The Company manages its structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic 
conditions. The funding requirements are met through the equity given by the shareholders.

ii.Financial risk management:
The Company’s activities expose it to credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk (i.e., foreign curren-
cy risk, interest rate risk, and price risk).

This note explains the sources of risk to which the entity is exposed how the entity manages the risk 
and the impact of it in the financial statements. 

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management
Market risk – foreign 
exchange

Future commercial 
transactions and 
recognized financial 
liabilities not denom-
inated in Bhutanese 
Ngultrum (Nu.)

Cash flow forecasting Diversification of asset 
and liability

Market risk – interest 
rate risk

Long-term borrowings 
at variable rates

Sensitivity analysis The Company does 
not have borrowings 
at the floating interest 
rate
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Credit risk Cash and cash equiv-
alents, trade receiv-
ables, and financial 
assets measured at 
amortized cost

Aging analysis
Creditworthiness

Diversification of cus-
tomer base

Liquidity risk Trade and other pay-
ables

Cash flow forecasts Availability of com-
mitted facilities

a. Market risk- Foreign currency risk:
The foreign currency (Indian Rupee) does not have exchange fluctuation risk since Bhutanese 
Ngultrum (BTN) is pegged with Indian Rupee (INR).

The company’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period expressed in 
Nu. as follows:

1. Nu vs INR:

Particulars 31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23
INR INR

Financial assets 75,304,549 24,324,217
Financial liabilities (156,516,594) (256,479,805)
Net exposure to foreign currency risk (81,212,045) (232,601,062)

b. Market risk- Interest rate risk:
The Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The company as on 31/12/2024 and in FY 2023 
was not exposed to the risk of changes in market interest rates because it does not have any floating 
rate borrowings nor does it have any floating interest-bearing financial assets.

Investment made by the Company bears fixed rate of interest. Interest income and interest expenses 
are therefore not subject to interest rate risk as defined in BFRS-7, since neither the carrying amount 
nor the future cash flows will fluctuate because of a change in market interest rates.

c.Credit Risk:
The Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its op-
erating activities primarily from trade and other receivables.

Trade Receivables:
The Company’s trade receivables comprise majorly from the Hydro Power Projects. Trade receiv-
ables are non-interest bearing and are generally given for 45 days credit term for Domestic Non-
Trade customer and 7 days for Export customer. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly 
monitored. The aging of trade receivables as on the balance sheet date is given below. The age anal-
ysis has been considered from the invoice date:

Description Current 1-30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days > 90 days Total
Trade Receivable as 
31.12.2024 23,917,808 42,813,171 3,145,673 412,875 98,295,411 168,584,939

Less: Provision for 
impairment Loss - - - - (5,260,129) (5,260,129)

Net Receivable as 
on 31.12.2024 23,917,808 42,813,171 3,145,673 412,875 93,035,282 163,324,809
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Trade Receivable as 
31.12.2023 11,251,082 55,883,260 25,154,340 22,941,786 140,617,859 255,848,327

Less: Provision for 
impairment Loss - - - - (5,260,129) (5,260,129)

Net Receivable as 
on 31.12.2023 11,251,082 55,883,260 25,154,340 22,941,786 135,357,730 250,588,198

The requirement for impairment is analysed at each reporting date. The maximum exposure to cred-
it risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets. The Company does 
not hold collateral as security.

Cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets:
The Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Company’s 
Finance & Investment Department. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved 
counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counter party. For banks and financial insti-
tutions, only high rated banks/institutions are accepted.

Financial assets are considered to be of good quality and there is no significant credit risk.

d. Liquidity risk:
The Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated 
with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Management 
monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity position and cash and cash equivalents on the 
basis of expected cash flows. This is generally performed in accordance with practice and limits set 
by the Company.

Maturities of financial liabilities: 
The tables below analyse the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on their contractual maturities for all financial liabilities. The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows. The balances due within 12 months equal their carrying bal-
ances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Contractual maturities 
of financial liabilities Up to 1 year  2-3 years  4-5 years More than 5 

years  Total
31/12/2024

Borrowings- Long Term 279,779,531 624,825,319 726,874,110 1,206,431,600 2,837,910,560
Interest payable – Bor-
rowings

282,057,282 371,663,097 270,119,710 167,191,616 1,091,031,705

Borrowings – Short 
Term

1,880,341,278    1,880,341,278

Trade payable and other 
payables

726,113,964 105,351,085   831,465,049

Total financial liabilities 3,168,292,055 1,101,839,500 996,993,820 1,373,623,216 6,640,748,591

55. Profit/(Loss) before income tax during the year:
The company has incurred a loss of Nu. (546,536,337) as compared to Nu. (66,036,958) in FY 2023. 
The loss has significantly increased following the collapse of the cement silo on October 22, 2024. As 
a result, there were no sales for 35 days, causing an estimated revenue loss of Nu. 450,052,736. The 
additional expenses arising from the silo collapse total to Nu. 109,953,826. These include a write-off 
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of the silo amounting to Nu. 50,545,775, and a cement stock write-off of Nu. 26,267,276. Furthermore, 
other equipment losses led to a write-off of Nu. 14,997,317, while the packing plant sub-station was 
written off for Nu. 2,695,154. The retaining wall was written off for Nu. 762,234 and other related 
expenses amounted to Nu. 14,686,071.

56. Additional Disclosures:

i. In the opinion of the management, the value of assets other than property, plant and equipment, 
on realization in the ordinary course of business, will not be less than the value at which these are 
stated in the Statement of Financial Position

ii. Production and Sales:

The quantitative detail of production and sales of Cement and Clinker as under:
Particulars Unit FY 2024 FY 2023

Production Qty.:    
i) Cement MT 405,032              496,437 
ii) Clinker MT 402,589              416,200 
    
Sales Qty.:    
i) Cement MT   412,659              479,030 
ii) Clinker MT 54,148                  3,074 

iii. Segment reporting on Sales:
The Company operates only in cement and for internal reporting purposes it is considered the entire 
business as one segment i.e., cement and the performance is reviewed accordingly. The manage-
ment considers the business from a geographic and product perspective. From geographic perspec-
tive management considers the performance in Bhutan (domicile of company) and India. From the 
product perspective management considers the revenue generated from the various types of cement 
viz. PPC, PSC & OPC.  

Since these products are being of similar nature, production processes, customers and distribution 
channel it is not considered for segment reporting.

However, the quantitative detail of sales of Cement and Clinker as under:

Sales FY 2024 FY 2023
MT Revenue -Nu MT Revenue -Nu

OPC-43 193,916 1,113,856,500 126,317 737,979,304
PPC 218,743 1,250,785,315 352,713 2,181,402,004
Total Cement 412,659 2,364,641,815 479,030 2,919,381,308
Clinker 54,148 240,241,070.00 3,074 8,109,104

iv. Insurance claim
On October 22, 2024, Cement Silo No. 3 was completely collapsed towards the adjacent highway, 
narrowly missing other silos and the main packing and loading structures. The incident occurred 
during routine operations and significantly damaged equipment and structurers. The company 
has submitted an insurance claim of Nu. 261,628,569. However, no provision has been made as the 
receipt of the claim is uncertain.
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